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2.  Corporate Structure 
 
2.1 The full corporate name of the Issuer is PetroWorth Resources Inc.  Its 

head office, registered office and records office is located at Suite 901, 
170 – University Avenue, Toronto, Ontario, M5H 3B3.    

 
2.2  PetroWorth Resources Inc. ("PetroWorth" or the "Company") was 

incorporated under the Ontario Business Corporations Act (“OBCA”) on 
March 11, 2003. PetroWorth was extra-provincially registered in Alberta 
pursuant to provisions of the Business Corporations Act (Alberta) on July 
9, 2004 and has also been extra-provincially registered in the Provinces of 
Prince Edward Island on June 16, 2003, Nova Scotia on January 28, 2004 
and in New Brunswick on November 9, 2004. 

 
2.3  The Company does not have any subsidiaries. 
 
2.4  The Company is not requalifying following a fundamental change and is 

not proposing an acquisition, amalgamation, merger, reorganization or 
arrangement. 

 
2.5 The Company is incorporated within Canada. 
 
3.  General Development of the Business 
 
3.1. PetroWorth is engaged in the acquisition and exploration of natural gas 

properties in eastern Canada.  The Company has extensive properties 
onshore in eastern Canada with 100% working interests in approximately 
960,000 acres in Prince Edward Island, Nova Scotia and New Brunswick.   

 New Brunswick 
PetroWorth has drilled four exploration wells on its New Brunswick 
Rosevale license (41,000 acres). Well E-08 (Feenan #2) was drilled in 
November/December 2007 and is deemed to be a successful discovery 
well. The well was fracture stimulated and flow tested in June 2008.  At 
the end of the six-day flow test, the well flowed 950,000 cubic feet of 
gas/day and 20 barrels of oil/day. A second promising well, Well A-08 
(Feenan #3), located near the E-08 well, was drilled in June/July 2008. 
This well encountered a number of hydrocarbon bearing zones and 
appears to be a very good candidate for fracture stimulation. The other 
two exploration wells (G-18 and A-63) did not encounter sufficient 
hydrocarbons to be deemed potentially commercial.   
In January 2009, Dr. P.K. Mukhopadhyay (“Dr. Muki”) of Global 
Geoenergy Research Ltd. completed a geochemical assessment of 
PetroWorth’s New Brunswick properties, focusing on the area in and 
around the Rosevale licence. The assessment took into account a number 
of factors, including:  
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a) selected log interpretations;  
b) correlations on the thickness of the Frederick Brook member 

sediments;  
c) thickness contours of both the Hiram Brook and Frederick Brook 

member sediments;   
d) source rock geochemical data; 
e) physical properties of selected reservoirs; and  
f) reservoir hydrocarbon production testing interpretations.  

Dr. Muki’s 101-page report provides a number of noteworthy findings: 

• Alternate sequences of calcareous and dolomitic sandstone, 
calcareous black shale and siltstone units of the Frederick Brook 
member dominate the lower portion of the section while alternate 
shale, siltstone and sandstone dominate the upper section.  

• In PetroWorth’s A-08 well, most sediments are lacustrine, excellent 
organic rich (1-4.5% Total Organic Carbon) algal (alginate and 
amorphnite) derived oil prone source rocks with major oil prone shale 
sections and gas prone sand section source rocks with a gas 
condensate window.  

• The zones in both PetroWorth E-08 (Feenan #2) and A-08 wells have 
a combination of major oil prone (shale section) and gas prone (sand 
section) resource rocks.  

• Geochemical lab results indicate optimum maturity for oil and gas 
generation in the source rock sediments of the Hiram Brook and 
Frederick Brook members. This data clearly demonstrates the likely 
presence of medium-sized conventional oil (28-40 API gravity) and 
unconventional shale oil resources at relatively shallow depths. 
Additionally, unconventional shale gas prospects exist within the 
overall hydrocarbon-charged interval including the Hiram Brook and 
Frederick Brook members.  

Additionally, the study recommended that the tectonically undisturbed 
Frederick Brook shale in the southwest axial part of the lease within a 
depth of 1800-3000 metres in the Moncton Sub Basin should be targeted 
for future drilling.  

  In August 2007, PetroWorth successfully secured the rights to explore for 
oil and natural gas on an additional licence in the area of Westmorland 
County, New Brunswick (the Sackville Basin). The exploration rights cover 
a total of 88,737 acres immediately east of the Stoney Creek oil and gas 
field, and thus increased PetroWorth licenced properties in New 
Brunswick to 129,583 acres. 

 In 2010, Petroworth completed a 63Km 2D seismic on the property. 
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 Prince Edward Island (PEI) 
PetroWorth successfully negotiated a farm-in agreement with Corridor 
Resources Inc. (Corridor) whereby Corridor agreed to drill up to five wells 
on PetroWorth’s licenced properties. The first well, New Harmony #1, was 
drilled in September 2007 to a total depth of 3402 metres.  One zone in 
the well underwent a fracture stimulation, which did not result in the 
generation of commercial hydrocarbons.  Corridor subsequently withdrew 
from the farm-in agreement on PetroWorth’s licenced properties in PEI. 

 In July 2008, PetroWorth entered into a revised agreement with Corridor, 
whereby PetroWorth agreed to pay $2 million for the fracture stimulation 
and testing of two zones in the Green Gables #3 well in order to earn a 
10% working interest in Corridor’s Green Gables licence 04-03 on Prince 
Edward Island. The subsequent fracture stimulation did not result in the 
generation of commercial hydrocarbons. 
In May 2009, PetroWorth announced that it had reached an agreement 
with Ardent Resources Canada Limited. Under the terms of the 
agreement, Ardent will drill and fracture two wells on PetroWorth’s 
licenced PEI properties in order to earn a 50% interest in these properties. 
Due to the depressed price of natural gas and Ardent’s inability to raise all 
of the required capital to drill the first well, Ardent has decided not to 
proceed with the farm-in program at this time.   In the meantime, the 
Company continued to look for potential farm-in partners for the PEI 
property. 

 
 Nova Scotia 

In 2009, PetroWorth completed a 66-kilometre 2D seismic project on its 
licensed property called the Lake Ainslie Block, which comprises 
approximately 383,000 acres. The Company’s goal is to secure a farm-in 
partner to further the exploration program. 
 

 Alberta 
On December 1, 2009, the Company entered into a Quitclaim, Assignment 
and Mutual Release Agreement with Forent Energy Ltd. (“Forent”), the 
operator of the seven farm-in wells in Alberta, whereby PetroWorth 
assigned its entire interest pursuant to the Farmout Agreements to Forent.  
The parties agreed to release each other of any obligations that each may 
have against the other in connection with those interests.   

 Over the next fiscal year, PetroWorth’s primary objectives are: 
1. To commercialize oil and gas production in the E-08 and A-08 wells in 

New Brunswick. 
2. To negotiate a farm-in partnership for the shale oil and shale gas plays 

on the Company’s Rosevale licence in New Brunswick. 
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3. Via a farm-in partnership, to achieve a commercial natural gas 
discovery on Prince Edward Island 

4. To negotiate a beneficial farm-in partnership for exploration drilling on 
the Lake Ainslie Block in Cape Breton, Nova Scotia. 

3.2 The Company has not completed any significant acquisition or has not 
proposed any significant probable acquisition, for which financial 
statements would be required under Part 6 or 7 of OSC Rule 41-501 if this 
Listing Statement were a prospectus.  

3.3  The Company’s business of acquiring and then exploring and developing 
hydrocarbon properties, is highly uncertain and risky by its very nature. In 
addition, the ability to raise funding in the future to maintain the Company’s 
exploration and development activities is dependent upon financial markets 
that could fail to provide the necessary capital. 
Regulatory standards continue to change making the regulatory review 
process longer, more complex and more costly. Even if an apparently 
economic deposit is discovered, there is no assurance that it will ever reach 
production or be profitable, as its potential economics are influenced by 
many key factors such as commodity prices, foreign exchange rates, equity 
markets and political interference, which cannot be controlled by 
management. 

 
4  Narrative Description of the Business 
 
4.1  General 

 
(1) PetroWorth Resources Inc. is a junior oil and gas exploration company 

with extensive properties onshore in Eastern Canada. The Company has 
acquired 100% working interests in 956,869 acres in four separate 
exploration permit areas on Prince Edward Island, Nova Scotia and New 
Brunswick. 
 
(a)  The business objectives that the Company expects to accomplish 
in the forthcoming 12-month period subject to financingare as follows: 
 
• To commercialize oil and gas production in the E-08 and A-08 wells in 

New Brunswick. 

• To negotiate a farm-in partnership for the shale oil and shale gas plays 
on the Company’s Rosevale licence in New Brunswick. 

• Via a farm-in partnership, to achieve a commercial natural gas 
discovery on Prince Edward Island  

• To drill a well on the Lake Ainslie Block in Cape Breton, Nova Scotia. 
Overall, given the Company’s current position relatively low stock price, 
the business strategy over the next twelve months is to preserve cash 
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while attracting farm-in investments on all of the eastern Canada 
properties. 
 
(b) The significant events or milestones that must occur for the 
business objectives in (a) to be accomplished and the specific time period 
in which each event is expected to occur and the costs related to each 
event are as follows: 
 
Milestone 1: A successful fracture stimulation of the A-08 (Feenan #3) well 
in New Brunswick in 2010. Estimated cost $1.4 million. 
Milestone 2: Via a pipeline or compressed gas trucking, transport natural 
gas from e-08 & a-08 to an industrial end-user. 
Milestone 3: Drill a well in Nova Scotia. 
 
(c) The total funds available to the Company are approximately $ 
$1,500,000.  
 
(d) As previously indicated, the Company is currently in a cash 
preservation mode, and will continue to focus on reducing the monthly 
burn rate while aggressively pursuing farm-in partnerships. 
 
(e) The Company does not have any commercial production or oil or 
natural gas.  
 
(f) The Company is actively investigating ways in which to transport 
natural gas and oil from the E-08 and A-08 wells in New Brunswick. While 
the Company signed a Letter of Intent with Enbridge Gas New Brunswick 
Inc. regarding the construction of a 22-kilometre pipeline (See 4.4 (d)), the 
success of this effort will depend greatly on the results of the fracture 
stimulation of the A-08 well, which the Company expects will take place 
before year-end 2010 subject to financing.   
 
(g) The following is an assessment of the competitive conditions in the 
principal markets and geographic areas in which the Company operates: 
Oil and gas exploration is intensely competitive and involves a high 
degree of risk. There can be no assurance that commercial production of 
hydrocarbons can be obtained from any of the Company's properties, nor 
are there any assurances that production, if obtained, will be in sufficient 
quantities to be profitable. In its efforts to acquire properties, the Company 
competes with other companies that have significantly greater resources. 
Many of these companies not only explore for and produce oil and gas, 
but also conduct refining and petroleum marketing operations on a 
worldwide basis. Competition for producing properties will be affected by 
the amount of funds available to the Company, information available to the 
Company and any standards established by the Company for the 
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minimum projected return on investment. Competition may also be 
presented by alternative fuel sources. 
 
(h) The Company does not have lending operations, has no set 
investment policies and has not adopted lending and investment 
restrictions. 

 
(2) The Company has never been bankrupt or otherwise placed in 

receivership. 
 

(3) The Company did not implement and was not part of any material 
reorganization within the three most recently completed financial years or 
the current financial year. 

 
4.2 The Company does not have any asset backed securities. 
 
4.3 The Company does not conduct business in the mineral exploration or 

mining business. 
 
4.4 Issuers with Oil and Gas Operations. 

PetroWorth has oil and gas properties in the Provinces of New Brunswick, 
Prince Edward Island and Nova Scotia.  The Company has no oil or gas 
reserves on any of its properties in Maritimes Canada.   All the Company’s 
properties are onshore.  
 

(a) Drilling Activity  
The Company did not conduct any drilling activities in 2010.  The 
Company has drilled a total of four wells on its own on the Rosevale 
licence in New Brunswick in the past.  As part of a farm-in agreement, 
Corridor Resources Inc. drilled a well (at 100% cost to Corridor) on one of 
PetroWorth’s licences in Prince Edward Island.  
 

 (b) Location of Production 
The Company has disposed of all of its producing wells in Alberta in 2009.  
None of the wells in eastern Canada are in production. The following table 
sets forth the number and status of wells in which the Corporation has a 
working interest.  The stated interests are subject to land-owners and 
other royalties, where applicable, in addition to the customary Crown 
royalties and mineral taxes.  
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  Natural Gas Wells
  Producing  Non-Producing 
  Gross(1)  Net(2)  Gross(1)  Net(2) 
Alberta  0  0  0  0 
New Brunswick  0  0  4  4 
Prince Edward Island  0  0  1  0.1 
Nova Scotia  0  0  0  0 
         
Total  0 0 5  4.1 
         

Notes: 

(1) "Gross" refers to all oil and gas wells in which Petroworth has a working interest. 

(1) "Net" refers to the aggregate of the percentage working interests of Petroworth in the 
gross wells, before the deduction of any royalty interests. 

(c) Location of Wells 
As of December 1, 2009, Petroworth disposed of all of its working interest 
in 7 wells completed in Alberta.  
  

(d)  Interest in Material Properties  
Information relating to the Corporation’s principal properties with no 
attributed reserves is set out below. 
New Brunswick 
As of December 31, 2010, Petroworth had the following onshore land 
holdings in New Brunswick: 
1. 100% interest in the New Brunswick Lease No. ONG 07-06 consisting 

of approximately 33,754 acres in southern New Brunswick (the 
“Rosevale” property); 

2. 100% interest in two additional and adjacent leases in southern New 
Brunswick (the “Stoney Creek” property): 

a. ONG 09-11 consisting of approximately 1,773 acres; and 
b. ONG 09-12 consisting of approximately 5,319 acres. 

3. 100% interest in Westmorland County of New Brunswick Licence No. 07-
01 consisting of 88,737 acres located immediately east of the Stoney 
Creek oil and gas field expired in August 2010.  The Corporation has 
applied to convert the licence into a lease.  

During the year ending December 31, 2009, Global Geoenergy Research 
Ltd completed its geochemical analysis of the oil shale, shale gas and 
hybrid tight sand/shale prospects of the Albert Formation and associated 
sediments with the Company’s leased Rosevale property in the Moncton 
subbasin.  The analysis concluded that there are significant conventional 
shale gas and shale oil opportunities on PetroWorth’s properties.  In 
addition, an evaluation of the A-08 well identified 500 metres of oil and gas 
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charged and shale sequences, making the well an excellent candidate for 
fracture stimulation.  The analysis also concluded that significant shale 
gas opportunities exist on the southwestern part of the Company’s 
Rosevale leased property.   
During the year, PetroWorth continued discussions with the New 
Brunswick Department of Natural Resources and Department of 
Environment to resolve the Turtle Creek Watershed issue.  The Turtle 
Creek Watershed covers about 60% of the Company’s Rosevale license 
which restricts the exploration potential of the license.   
In March 2010, the Corporation signed a Letter of Intent with Enbridge 
Gas New Brunswick Inc. (“EGNB”) which outlined specific terms and 
conditions that will form the basis of a definitive agreement to construct a 
22-kilometre pipeline from PetroWorth’s Rosevale Lease acreage to 
EGNB’s natural gas distribution system, which serves the City of Moncton 
and surrounding communities. The pipeline will enable PetroWorth to 
transport natural gas from its existing E-08 & A-08 wells, pending a 
successful fracture stimulation and completion program at A-08.  The 
Company continues to source local end users for this project. 
 
Prince Edward Island 
As of December 31, 2010, Petroworth had the following onshore land 
holdings in Prince Edward Island (PEI): 
1. 100% interest in two contiguous permits in north-eastern PEI: 

a. Permit #03-01 consisting of approximately 88,090 acres; and 

b. Permit #03-02 consisting of approximately 177,985 acres.   

2. 100% interest in Permit #04-05 of approximately 133,286 acres in 
central PEI which expired in 2010 and was renewed in 2011. 

3. 100% interest in three additional properties in King’s County, PEI 
which expired in 2010 and were renewed in 2011: 

a. Permit #04-06 consisting of approximately 21,360 acres; 

b. Permit #04-07 consisting of approximately 21,420 acres;  

c. Permit #04-08 consisting of approximately 3,418 acres; and 

4. 10% working interest in Green Gables license 04-03, PEI. 

PetroWorth has conducted two major seismic programs on its PEI 
properties, including 304 kilometres of 2-D and 108 square kilometers of 
3-D seismic.   
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Nova Scotia 
As of December 31, 2010, Petroworth holds Exploration Agreements in 
Nova Scotia being 04-07-15-01 consisting of 383,727 acres (the “Ainslie” 
property).  Under the Exploration Agreement, Petroworth has completed a 
66 kilometre seismic program to satisfy exploratory work commitment of 
$1,500,000 in 2009 and will need to complete a further $1,500,000 for 
each of the following two years totalling $3,000,000.  Petroworth has put 
up a deposit of $200,000 for this agreement.    

(e)  Reserve Estimates  
Petroworth had no proved or probable reserves as at December 31, 2010.  
 

 (f) Source of Reserve Estimates  
Not Applicable. 
 

 (g) Reconciliation of Reserves 
 

Petroworth has no proven or probable reserves as at December 31, 2010 
and 2009 and therefore, there were no changes during the year. 

(h) History  
 

(i) The following table indicates the net average daily production 
volumes from each important field for the year ended December 31, 
2010 and 2009.  This information is updated on an annual basis 
and accordingly, no changes were made or updated as of the date 
of this Form 2A. 
 

Year ended December 31, 2010  
Light Oil and NGLs 

(bbls/d) 
 Natural Gas 

(mcf/d) 
Bruce  0  0 
Ferrybank  0  0 
Wetaskawin  0  0 
Total*  0  0 

 
 

Year ended December 31, 2009  
Light Oil and NGLs 

(bbls/d) 
 Natural Gas 

(mcf/d) 
Bruce  0  14.3 
Ferrybank  0  162.1 
Wetaskawin  0  0 
Total*  0  176.4 
     

(ii) The company had no production in 2010 as it disposed of all its 
producing wells on December 1, 2009 
.   
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(iii) See table under 4.4 (h) (ii) 
(iv) The following table summarizes capital expenditures incurred by 

Petroworth and property acquisitions added to oil and natural gas 
properties and equipment with respect to Petroworth’s reserves for 
the period ended December 31, 2010. 

Expenditures 

 Year Ended 
December 31, 10 

($000s) 
Property acquisition costs-Unproved properties  - 
Property acquisition costs-Proved properties  - 
Exploration costs  1,842 
Development costs  0 
Total Expenditures  1,842 

 
 
 (i) Future Commitments - The Company has no future material commitments 

to buy, sell, exchange or transport oil or gas.  However, the Company is 
actively investigating ways in which to transport natural gas and oil from 
the E-08 and A-08 wells in New Brunswick.  The success of this effort will 
highly dependent on the results of the fracture stimulation of the A-08 well.   
 

(j) Exploration and Development Activities - PetroWorth is contemplating a 
fracture stimulation of the A-08 well in 2010 subject to financing.   

 
5.  Selected Consolidated Financial Information:  
 
5.1  Annual Information  
 

 

Annual

Yr. Ending 
12/31/2010 

Yr. Ending 
12/31/2009 

Yr. Ending 
12/31/2008 

   
Revenue 0 222,353 209,143
Operating (Loss) 0 (5,422,815) (3,478,202)
Op. (Loss) /share (0.04) (0.12) (0.08)
Net (Loss) (1,942,806) (4,321,022) (2,255,797)
Net (Loss)/share (0.04) (0.10) (0.06)
Net (Loss)/share FD (0.04) (0.10) (0.06)
Total Assets 25,699,984 23,148,323 28,813,281
Long Term Liabilities Nil Nil Nil
Cash Dividends Nil Nil Nil
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5.2 Quarterly Information 
 
 Quarterly
 Qtr. Ending  Qtr. Ending Qtr. Ending Qtr Ending 
 12/31/2010 9/30/2010 6/30/2010 3/31/2010 
     
Revenue - - - -
Operating (Loss) (695,135) (312,097) (712,528) (223,046)
Operating (Loss)/share (0.008) (0.006) (0.016) (0.005)
Net (Loss) (695,135) (312,097) (712,528) (223,046)
Net (Loss)/share (0.008) (0.006) (0.016) (0.005)
Net (Loss)/share FD (0.008) (0.006) (0.016) (0.005)
 Quarterly
 Qtr. Ending  Qtr. Ending Qtr. Ending Qtr Ending 
 12/31/2009 9/30/2009 6/30/2009 3/31/2009 
     
Revenue 31,605 73,500 91,283 25,965
Operating (Loss) (4,173,792) (353,886) (532,486) (342,858)
Operating (Loss)/share (0.07) (0.01) (0.01) (0.008)
Net (Loss) (3,170,401) (329,021) (530,928) (290,672)
Net (Loss)/share (0.07) (0.01) (0.01) (0.01)
Net (Loss)/share FD (0.07) (0.01) (0.01) (0.01)

 
5.3  Dividends 
 

(a) There exists no restriction that could prevent the Issuer from paying 
dividends. 

 
(b) No dividends have been paid by the Company since the date of its 

incorporation. It is the present policy of the Company to retain any 
earnings to finance the growth and development of the Company's 
business.  There has been no change in policies. 

 
5.4 The Company does not base any financial reporting on foreign GAAP. 
 
 
6.  Management's Discussion and Analysis 
 
Annual MD&A 
 
The following discussion and analysis of the results of operations and financial 
condition (“MD&A”) for PetroWorth Resources Inc. (“PetroWorth” or the 
“Company”) should be read in conjunction with the Company’s audited annual 
financial statements and accompanying notes for the years ended December 31, 
2010 and 2009.  
 

  
 

12



This discussion and analysis of the operating results and financial position of the 
Company may contain forward looking statements about the future prospects of 
PetroWorth, but the Company provides no assurances that actual results will 
meet the expectations of management.  This MD&A is prepared in conformity 
with National Instrument 51-102 F1 and has been approved by the Board of 
Directors. The Company’s auditors have reviewed this MD&A prior to release.  
 
6.1 This management discussion and analysis is as at April 28, 2011. 
 
Overall Performance 
 
6.2 
 
Overview 
 
2010 was a challenging year for PetroWorth.  The Company was able to raise a 
total of $3,352,943 flow-through and $427,500 non flow-through funds despite a 
difficult economic and investment climate. The continued depressed price for 
natural gas has made it difficult for the  Company to commercialize the E-08 
discovery well in New Brunswick and has caused the  frac completion program 
on the nearby A-08 well to be deferred.  Efforts to attract a farm-in partner for the 
Company’s Rosevale lease (16,500 hectares/41,000 acres) in New Brunswick 
were derailed by disappointing results in two horizontal wells drilled by Apache 
Canada on directly adjacent property. In June, the Company was formally 
notified by the New Brunswick Department of Environment that it would not be 
allowed to drill exploration wells on the Turtle Creek Watershed, which comprises 
approximately 60% of the Rosevale lease. Plans to drill a 1200-metre oil 
exploration well on the Lake Ainslie Block property in Cape Breton, Nova Scotia 
were deferred until 2011 due to a delay in the permitting process resulting from 
rising public concern over oil and gas drilling in general and hydraulic fracking in 
particular. 
 
In September 2010, PetroWorth conducted a 14-kilometre 2-D seismic program 
on the Albion Cross structure in Prince Edward Island in an effort to confirm four-
way closure on a large geological structure.  
 
In October/November, 2010 PetroWorth completed a 64-kilometre 2-D seismic 
program on the Sackville Basin property (35,600 hectares/88,000 acres) in New 
Brunswick. As a result of this program, the Company has fulfilled its work 
obligation on the Sackville Basin license, which is expected to be converted to a 
five-year lease in 2011. 
 
Natural Gas Exploration Activities 
PetroWorth was founded as an oil and gas exploration company in 2003. 
PetroWorth is engaged in the acquisition and exploration of oil and natural gas 
properties in eastern Canada. The Company has extensive properties onshore 
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eastern Canada with 100% working interests in approximately 388,000 
hectares/960,000 acres in Prince Edward Island, Nova Scotia and New 
Brunswick. The Company has drilled four exploration wells on its Rosevale lease 
in New Brunswick and successfully carried out fracture stimulation in four zones 
in one of the wells. In Prince Edward Island, the Company via a farm-out 
agreement with Corridor Resources Inc. has had one exploration well drilled on 
its licensed property, and has a 10% working interest in Green Gables license 
04-03.  
 
Prince Edward Island 
During the year, PetroWorth’s consulting geologist and geophysicist identified a 
large and potentially attractive structure in an area called Albion Cross. However, 
PetroWorth’s existing seismic data could identify closure on only three sides of 
the structure and it is imperative that four-way closure be confirmed for the 
structure to be deemed an attractive prospect. In September, PetroWorth shot a 
14-kilometre seismic line perpendicular to the previously shot line in an effort to 
prove four-way closure.  Unfortunately, while the quality of the seismic data was 
good, four-way closure could not be confirmed. During the fourth quarter, 
PetroWorth applied to the PEI government for a two-year extension on four 
permits, which were scheduled to expire near year-end. Shortly after year-end, 
PetroWorth was granted the requested extension. 
 
New Brunswick 
In October/November, 2010, PetroWorth conducted a 64-kilometre seismic 
program on the Sackville Basin license. The quality of the seismic data obtained 
is very good. During the year PetroWorth was able to acquire additional – and 
original - seismic data previously shot by another company on this property. 
These two sets of data, combined with some reprocessed historical data, 
considerably enhance PetroWorth’s understanding of the geological structures 
on the Sackville Basin property. 
Throughout 2010, the Company spent a great deal of time and effort seeking 
industry partners for both the Rosevale and Sackville Basin properties. 
Discussions with a number of companies reached fairly advanced stages but 
were ultimately derailed due to: a) the continued depressed price for natural gas; 
and b) the disappointing results of the two Apache Canada horizontal wells 
drilled on property directly west of PetroWorth’s Rosevale Lease.   
 
In 2009, PetroWorth signed a Letter of Intent with Enbridge Gas New Brunswick 
Inc. (“EGNB”) which outlined specific terms and conditions to construct a 22-
kilometre pipeline from PetroWorth’s Rosevale Lease acreage to EGNB’s natural 
gas distribution system. The two companies were unable to finalize the 
agreement due to the New Brunswick government’s  inability to guarantee the 
capital cost of the pipeline to mitigate the risk for the Company.  
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During 2010, PetroWorth worked hard to advance an alternative project to truck 
compressed natural gas (CNG) from the E-08 and A-08 wells to a regional 
industrial end user. Although a definitive contractual agreement has yet to be 
reached, the Company is continuing its effort to bring this project to fruition. If and 
when such an agreement is in place, it will justify a frac completion program at A-
08 and the drilling of additional wells in the northeast part of the Rosevale lease.  
 
On June 29, 2010 PetroWorth received a letter from the New Brunswick 
Department of Environment (DOE), notifying the Company that it will not be 
allowed to conduct oil and gas exploration and development in the Turtle Creek 
Watershed, which comprises approximately 60% of the Rosevale lease. The 
Company is now considering its options pertaining to this property.    
 
Nova Scotia 
In mid-September, PetroWorth submitted an application to the Nova Scotia 
government to drill a vertical 1200-metre well on the 155,000-hectare/383,000-
acre Lake Ainslie Block property. The proposed well location is just west of Lake 
Ainslie in an area where a number of historic wells have encountered oil at 
relatively shallow depths. None of these wells were drilled deeper than 330 
metres. Based on these historical wells and on the 2-D seismic data PetroWorth 
acquired in 2009, the Company selected a drill target that presents the best 
opportunity to encounter oil in both the shallow and deeper structures. 
 
PetroWorth submitted its application in mid-September with the expectation of 
drilling the proposed well in late November. However, due to public concerns 
about oil and gas drilling in general and hydraulic fracking in particular, the 
permitting process has become protracted, resulting in  delays likely until 
sometime in 2011.  
 
Subsequent to year-end, PetroWorth submitted a letter to the government, 
requesting a one-year extension to the Lake Ainslie license. If this request is 
granted, the license will be extended to July 15, 2012.  
 
Alberta 
On December 1, 2009, PetroWorth entered into a Quitclaim, Assignment and 
Mutual Release Agreement with Forent Energy Ltd. (“Forent”), the operator of the 
seven farm-in wells in Alberta, whereby PetroWorth assigned its entire interest 
pursuant to the Farmout Agreements to Forent.  The parties agreed to release 
each other of any obligations that each may have against the other in connection 
with those interests.   
 
Financing Activities 
During the year ended December 31, 2010, the Company completed financings 
consisting of flow-through and non-flow-through shares for a total gross proceeds 
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of $3,780,443.  The Company 16,764,714 flow-through units and 2,375,000 non-
flow-through common shares units at $0.20 and $0.18 per unit, respectively.  
Each unit consists of one flow-through or non-flow-through common share and 
one common share purchase warrant.  The common share purchase warrants 
are exercisable at $0.30 and expire on June 30, 2012.   
 
 
Selected Annual Information 
 
6.3 Financial data derived from financial statements:  

 
 Year  Ended 

December 31, 
2010 

(Audited) 
$ 

Year  Ended 
December 31, 

2009 
(Audited) 

$ 

Year  Ended 
December 31, 

2008 
(Audited) 

$ 
Net income (loss) before taxes (1,942,806) (5,403,022) (3,194,732) 
Net income (loss) after taxes (1,942,806) (4,321,022) (2,255,797) 
Basic and diluted income (loss) 
per share 

(0.04) (0.10) (0.06) 

Total Assets 25,699,984 23,148,323 28,813,281 
Total long-term liabilities Nil Nil Nil 
Dividends declared per share Nil Nil Nil 

 
The financial statements have been prepared in accordance with Canadian GAAP and amounts 
are reported in Canadian Dollars. 
 
6.4 & 6.5 
 
Results of Operations 
 
Twelve Month Period Ended December 31, 2009 
 
During the year ended December 31, 2010, PetroWorth had no operating 
revenue.  Interest income for the year ended December 31, 2010 was $21,914 
(2009 - 44,536), a decrease of $22,622 as expected, due to lower interest rate 
and average annual cash balance.  The Company incurred a net loss during the 
year in the amount of $1,942,806 (2009 - $4,321,022).  The differences in net 
loss compared to the same period last year were largely due to non-cash items 
including stock-based compensation of $950,495 (2009 - $Nil) which was offset 
by a decrease in impairment of oil and gas properties of $Nil (2009 – 3,821,370).    
On April 26 and October 13, 2010, PetroWorth granted 2,633,300 and 2,500,000 
stock options, respectively, to directors, officers, employees and consultants (For 
details see Outstanding Share Data).  Depletion and depreciation expenses for 
the year ended December 31, 2010 were $16,940 (2009 – $239,452).   
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During the year ended December 31, 2010, total cash expenses continued to 
decrease as a result of the Company’s continued effort to cut cost.  Operating 
expenses were reduced across the board during the year compared to 2009 
except for consulting fees.  The Company incurred consulting fees of $128,694 
(2009 - $69,086), an increase of $59,608 mainly as a result of an increase in 
activities and replacing employees by consultants to save cost. Salaries and 
management fees during the year was $470,236 (2009 - $657,777), a decrease 
of $187,541 as the Company cut back on employees to reduce cost.  
Professional fees during the year was $111,236 (2009 - $127,850) a decrease of 
$16,614.    Total expenses for the year excluding non-cash charges were 
$981,085 (2009 - $1,228,969), a decrease of $247,884 largely due to the results 
of cash preservation efforts in spite of a more active period.   
 
 
During the year ended December 31, 2010, the Company recorded a total of 
$1,842,157 ($2009 - $2,485,617) in natural gas exploration expenditures, a 
decrease of 643,460 as the Company did not complete its planned exploration 
program due to delays in drilling permits and environmental issues.  Natural gas 
exploration for the year ended December 31, 2010 compared to last year can be 
summarized by province as follows:  

 
 

  2010   2009
Alberta $ - $           84,570 
New Brunswick 1,493,953         719,216 
Nova Scotia 105,999      1,358,425 
Prince Edward Island 242,205         323,406 
General Exploration -                  -  
Total $  1,842,157  $      2,485,617 

 
Natural gas exploration expenditure during the year ended December 31, 2010 
compared to last year can be summarized as follows:  
 

2010  2009
Lease Rentals $ 261,409 $ 135,907
Geological & Geophysical Consulting 300,439  386,597
Drilling 30,798  241,467
Completion Test/Frac 13,852  366,140
Seismic 1,238,266  1,285,524
Capitalized G&A              -   11,862
Well Equipment        (2,608)      58,120 
 Total $ 1,842,157 $ 2,485,617

 
 
No natural gas production was recorded in 2010 as the Company disposed of all 
of its producing wells on December 1, 2009.  The following summarizes the 
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natural gas production from the two producing wells in Alberta for the year ended 
December 31, 2009:  
 

 2009 2009 2009 2009 Year-to-Date*
 First 

Quarter
Second 
Quarter

Third
Quarter

Fourth* 
Quarter 

December 31, 
 2009

  
Average Daily Production  
 Natural Gas (mcf/d) 61 262 257 128 176  
  
Average Price Received  
 Natural Gas ($/mcf) $5.56 $3.63 $3.14 $4.62 $3.80
  
Royalties Paid  
 Natural Gas ($/mcf) $2.60 $0.82 $1.18 $1.34 $1.20
  
Operating Expenses  
 Natural Gas ($/mcf) $15.58 $3.08 $2.34 $7.69 $4.71
   
Netback Received  
 Natural Gas ($/mcf) $(12.62) $(0.27) $(0.37) $(4.41) $(2.60)
       

* Results include up to November 30, 2009.  PetroWorth quit claim on all its wells in Alberta on 
December 1, 2009. 
 
The above results differ from that of the quarterly MD&As due to delays in 
operating reports during the year.  The above results reflect the actual operating 
results of the relevant accounting period.  
 
Summary of Quarterly Results 
 
6.6 
 

 December 
31, 2010

September 30, 
2010

June 30, 
 2010 

March 31, 
2010

 $ $ $ $
Revenue - - - -
Net  (loss) after tax for the period (695,135) (312,097) (712,528) (223,046)
Net  (loss) per share - basic (.008) (0.006) (0.016) (0.005)
Number of shares outstanding 62,601,895 62,601,895 49,642,181 43,462,181
 
 
 December 

31, 2009
September 30, 

2009
June 30, 

 2009 
March 31, 

2009
 $ $ $ $
Revenue 31,605 73,500 91,283 25,965
Net (loss) for the period (3,170,401) (329,021) (530,928) (290,672)
Net (loss) per share (0.07) (0.01) (0.01) (0.01)
Number of shares outstanding 43,462,181 43,462,181 43,362,181 43,362,181
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Liquidity and Capital Resources 
 
6.7 & 6.8 
 
As at December 31, 2010 PetroWorth had working capital of $1,929,091 (2009 – 
$1,109,352), an increase of $819,739 as a result of financings totaling gross 
proceeds of $3,780,443.  During the year, the Government of Nova Scotia 
refunded a $100,000 deposit plus interest to the Company based on the 
Company’s exploration work in the province.  As of the date of this MD&A, the 
Company has approximately $1,500,000 in cash. 
 
On August 17, 2010, the Company announced a normal course issuer bid 
(“NCIB”) to repurchase up to 3,130,094 common shares or 5% of the common 
shares then issued and outstanding.  All shares purchased pursuant to the NCIB 
will be cancelled.  Purchases are permitted to commence on August 23, 2010 
and will conclude no later than August 22, 2011.  As of the date of this MD&A, 
the Company has not repurchased any shares. 
 
Future exploration program will depend on the Company’s ongoing financing 
efforts.  PetroWorth is an exploration stage company and continued to rely on 
continuous equity offerings and possible joint ventures and farm-outs to fund its 
exploration activities.  There is no guarantee that the Company’s exploration 
projects will be successful.  The availability of funds is subject to market 
conditions and there is no guarantee that funds will be available to fund its 
projects, commitments and plans.   
 
In order to maintain the Company’s oil and natural gas permits in good standing, 
the Company must pay a yearly rental and incur certain exploration costs.  
Minimum annual rentals on PetroWorth’s property leases are as follows:  
 
Year Amount
2011 246,849
2012 155,626
2013 155,626
2014 143,646

Total 
$  

701,747
 
PetroWorth has satisfied all exploration working commitment under its 
exploration licences and agreements except for $3,000,000 in Nova Scotia and 
approximately $1.2 million in New Brunswick.  Under the Exploration Agreements 
04-07-15-01 and 04-07-15-03 in Nova Scotia, PetroWorth has to complete 
exploratory work commitment of a total of $4,500,000 over a three year period of 
which $1,500,000 was completed in 2009.  The Company has completed a 64 
kilometre 2-D seismic program on its Sackville property to satisfy its obligation in 
New Brunswick.  The Company has submitted application to the Nova Scotia 
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government to drill a vertical 1,200 metre well on the Lake Ainslie Block property 
in Cape Breton, Nova Scotia. The Company is actively seeking financing as well 
as farm-in partners to participate in future exploration.   
 
The Company also has lease commitments for base rental payments for offices 
through 2013.  The approximate minimum lease commitments for the next four 
years are as follows: 
 

Year Amount
2011 52,000
2012 52,000
2013 9,000
Total $ 113,000

 
The Company will conduct its operations in a manner consistent with 
environmental regulations as stipulated in applicable legislation.  The Company 
is committed to meeting its responsibilities to protect the environment wherever it 
operates and anticipates making increased expenditures of both a capital and 
expense nature as a result of the increasingly stringent laws relating to the 
protection of the environment.  The Company does not anticipate, however, that 
it will be subject to any increases in such expenditures which, as a percentage of 
cash flow, will be greater than those expected, on average, by other industry 
operators.  The Company will maintain insurance coverage where available and 
financially desirable in light of risk versus cost factors.  Unforeseen significant 
changes in such areas as markets, prices, royalties, interest rates and 
government regulations would have an impact on the Company's future operating 
results or financial condition.   
 
The oil and gas industry has been subject to considerable price volatility, and 
while such risks can be hedged, a material decline in the price of oil or natural 
gas could result in a significant decrease in the Company’s future anticipated 
revenues.  The oil and gas industry has inherent business risks and there is no 
assurance that products can be produced at economical rates or that produced 
reserves will be replaced.  Fluctuations in currency and exchange rates and 
changes in production volumes are daily risks in the oil and gas industry.   
 
Off-Balance Sheet Arrangements  
 
6.9 As at December 31, 2009 the Company has no off-balance sheet 

arrangements.  
 
Transactions with Related Parties 
 
6.10 During the year ended December 31, 2010, the Company has the 

following related party transactions:  
(a) Paid or payable consulting fee of $57,800 (2009 - $Nil) to a director 
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and a former officer for providing investor relations services.   
(b) Paid $10,730 to family members of a director and officer for secretarial 

and temporary service.  
All amounts paid to related parties were incurred in the normal course of 
business and were measured at the exchange amount, which was 
established and agreed to by the related parties. 

 
Fourth Quarter  
 
6.11 Net loss for Q4 2010 was $695,135 (2009 - $4,252,403).  Total cash 
expenses excluding stock-based compensation, impairment of oil & gas 
properties, depletion, amortization and accretion for Q4 2010 was $269,411 
(2009 - $301,508), a decrease of $32,097 as the Company continues to reduce 
costs to preserve cash.  Natural gas exploration for Q4 2010 was $1,335,875 
(2009 - $409,957) an increase of $925,918 as the seismic program in New 
Brunswick and PEI was completed during Q4 2010.  The following is a 
breakdown of exploration expenses for Q4 2010 and 2009: 
 

3 months ending
Exploration Expenditures 31-Dec-10 31-Dec-09
Land acquisition/(sale)    $                    - $         18,483
Drilling 3,065 151,710
Geological & Environmental Consulting* (121,772) 25,317
Seismic 1,238,266 59,226
Rentals 216,316 54,640
Capitalized G&A - (517)
Completion Test/Frac - 100,989
Well Equipment - 108
Total Natural Gas Exploration $       1,335,875 $      409,957

 
*Note: An amount of $281,912 was being reclassified as seismic in Q4 2010 
 
The above expenditure can be allocated to the following provinces:  
 

3 months ending
Province 31-Dec-10 31-Dec-09
Alberta $                       -    $              944
New Brunswick 1,090,961            322,923 
Nova Scotia 63,376              66,602 
PEI 181,538              19,488 
Total Exploration $        1,335,875  $       409,957 
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Proposed Transactions 
 
6.12  
 
In March 2010, PetroWorth signed a Letter of Intent with Enbridge Gas New 
Brunswick Inc. (“EGNB”) which outlined specific terms and conditions to 
construct a 22-kilometre pipeline from PetroWorth’s Rosevale Lease acreage to 
EGNB’s natural gas distribution system. The two companies were unable to 
finalize the agreement due to the the New Brunswick government’s inability to 
guarantee the capital cost of the pipeline to mitigate the risk for the Company.  
 
During 2010, PetroWorth worked hard to advance an alternative project involving 
the trucking of compressed natural gas (CNG) from the E-08 and A-08 wells to a 
regional industrial end user. Although a definitive contractual agreement has yet 
to be reached, the Company is continuing its effort to bring this project to fruition. 
If and when such an agreement is in place, it will justify a frac completion 
program at A-08 and the drilling of additional wells in the northeast part of the 
Rosevale lease.  
 
Changes in Accounting Policies including Initial Adoption  
 
6.13 The following accounting policy changes were adopted effective January 

1, 2009: 
 
(i) Business Combinations, Consolidated Financial Statements and Non-

controlling Interests 
 
In January 2009, the CICA issued Section 1582, Business Combinations, Section 
1601, Consolidated Financial Statements, and Section 1602, Non-controlling 
Interests, which replace Section 1581, Business Combinations and Section 1600, 
Consolidated Financial Statements. Section 1582 establishes standards for the 
accounting for business combinations that is equivalent to the business 
combination accounting standard under International Financial Reporting 
Standards (“IFRS”). Section 1582 is applicable for business combinations with 
acquisition dates on or after January 1, 2011.  Early adoption of the section is 
permitted. Section 1601 together with Section 1602 establishes standards for the 
preparation of consolidated financial statements. Section 1601 is applicable for 
the Company’s interim and annual consolidated financial statements for the fiscal 
years beginning on or after January 1, 2011. Early adoption of this section is 
permitted. The Company decided not to early adopt this section. The Company 
does not believe the adoption of this standard will have a material impact on its 
financial statements. 
 
(ii) Convergence with International Financial Reporting Standards (“IFRS”) 
 
In January 2006, the Accounting Standards Board (“AcSB”) adopted a strategic 
plan for the direction of accounting standards in Canada. On February 13, 2008, 
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the AcSB confirmed that effective for interim and annual financial statements 
related to fiscal years beginning on or after January 1, 2011, International 
Financial Reporting Standards (“IFRS”) will replace Canada’s current Generally 
Accepted Accounting Principles (“Canadian GAAP”) for all publicly accountable 
profit-oriented enterprises.  As a result, the Company will report under IFRS 
starting with the interim period ending March 31, 2011, with restatement for 
comparative purposes of amounts reported under Canadian GAAP. 

 
The Company has developed a conversion plan to complete the transition to 
IFRS by January 1, 2011, including the preparation of required comparative 
information relating to 2010. As part of the IFRS conversion project, the 
Company has engaged external consultants to assist and advise in the 
Company’s transition to IFRS.  The conversion project consists of three phases: 
 
Phase 1 Preliminary Impact Assessment – This phase involves the high-level 
identification and assessment of the differences between IFRS and Canadian 
GAAP that will impact the Company. The results of this assessment were priority 
ranked according to the complexity and the extent of the impact in adoption of 
IFRS accounting policies 
 
Phase 2 Detailed Evaluation – This phase involves performing a detailed impact 
assessment of the differences between IFRS and Canadian GAAP, reviewing 
and approving accounting policy choices, identifying impact on systems and 
business processes, preparing position papers for areas of significant judgement, 
quantifying IFRS conversion adjustments and drafting IFRS compliant 
consolidated financial statements. 
 
Phase 3 Implementation – This phase involves embedding changes to systems, 
processes and internal controls, drafting the transitional opening balance sheet 
and preparing pro-forma IFRS compliant consolidated interim and annual 
financial statements for the 2011 fiscal year including comparatives. 
 
The Company completed Phase 1 during the third quarter of 2009 and Phase 2 
of the project in 2010.  Based on the work completed to date, the transition to 
IFRS did not result in significant changes to key controls during or after the 
transition to IFRS.  Changes to financial reporting processes and data systems 
were required as a result of changes in accounting policies, and internal control 
and disclosure control documentation is being updated accordingly.  The initial 
training of finance personnel is ongoing.   
 
The Company expects the greatest potential impact of IFRS adoption to be within 
the following areas: 
 

1. First-time adoption of IFRS (“IFRS 1”) 
IFRS 1 provides the framework for the first-time adoption of IFRS and 
outlines that, in general, an entity shall apply the principles under IFRS 
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retrospectively and that adjustments arising on conversion to IFRS shall 
be directly recognized in retained earnings. However, IFRS 1 also 
provides a number of optional exemptions from retrospective application 
of certain IFRS requirements as well as mandatory exceptions which 
prohibit retrospective application of standards. There are currently fifteen 
elective exemptions and four mandatory exceptions that need to be 
considered. 

 
The following optional exemptions have been identified as being 
applicable to the Company: 
• fair value as deemed cost of items of property, plant and equipment; 
• application date of IFRS 2 Share Based Payment;  
• deemed cost of exploration and evaluation assets and assets in the 

development and production phase;  
• measuring of and accounting for decommissioning liabilities; and 
• assessment of arrangements containing a lease; 
 
The Company is currently assessing the impact of applying these 
exemptions to its financial statements. The remaining elective exemptions 
have limited or no applicability to the Company. 
 

2. Exploration for and evaluation of mineral resources 
Under IFRS, the Company must develop a separate accounting policy for 
costs related to the pre-exploration phase, exploration and evaluation 
phase and the development and production phase. Existing oil and gas 
assets must be separated into these three categories and the Company is 
only allowed to continue using its current accounting policy for the 
exploration and evaluation phase. In addition, capitalized exploration and 
evaluation costs must be classified as tangible or intangible according to 
nature of the expenditure. The Company has decided that it will continue 
to capitalize exploration and evaluation costs under IFRS. 
 

3. Property, plant and equipment 
Canadian GAAP requires the Company to break down its assets into 
significant components only when practicable. Under IAS 16 Property, 
Plant and Equipment, the Company is explicitly required to allocate the 
amount initially recognized in respect of an item of property, plant and 
equipment (“PP&E”) to its significant components and depreciate 
separately each of these components. Where a significant component has 
a useful life and depreciation method that is the same as the useful life 
and depreciation method of another significant component of the same 
item of PP&E, such components may be grouped together in determining 
the depreciation charge. The Company will need to reassess PP&E and 
determine whether they are appropriately separated into its significant 
component parts. This may result in additional effort in identifying 
significant components, allocating cost to these components and adjusting 
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previously recorded depreciation. Modification of the current fixed assets 
register may be required to accommodate recording components of PP&E 
and depreciation calculations. The Company has decided that the 
adoption of this standard is not expected to have a material impact on the 
Company’s financial statements.   
 

4. Impairment of assets 
IAS 36 Impairment of Assets (“IAS 36”) uses a one-step approach for both 
testing for and measurement of impairment, with asset carrying values 
compared directly with the higher of fair value less costs to sell and value 
in use. Value in use is defined as being equal to the present value of 
future cash flows expected to be derived from the asset in its current state. 
In the absence of an active market, fair value, less cost to sell, may also 
be determined using discounted cash flows. The use of discounted cash 
flows under IFRS differs from Canadian GAAP where undiscounted cash 
flows are used to compare against the asset’s carrying amount to 
determine if impairment exists. This may result in more frequent write-
downs, since asset carrying amounts that were previously supported 
under Canadian GAAP, based on undiscounted cash flows, may not be 
supported on a discounted cash flow basis under IFRS. However, under 
IAS 36, previous impairment losses can be reversed where circumstances 
change, such that the impairment has reduced. This also differs from 
Canadian GAAP, which prohibits the reversal of previously recognized 
impairment losses. 

 
The Company is currently analyzing its operations in order to determine 
the cash generating units to be used for the purpose of impairment testing 
and impairment models are being assessed to ensure compliance with 
IFRS. 

 
5. Flow through shares 

Under Canadian GAAP, the future income tax liability relating to flow-
through shares are accounted for by creating a future income tax liability 
and reducing the shareholder’s equity on the date the Company files the 
renouncement documents with the taxation authorities. However, under 
IFRS, the Company will need to apply judgment in developing an 
appropriate model accounting policy based on the principles of IAS 12 
Income Taxes (“IAS 12”). Also, following the guidance under IAS 32, the 
proceeds from issuance may be required to be allocated between the 
offering of shares and the sale of tax benefits. The Company is still in the 
process of assessing the impact of IFRS on accounting for its flow-through 
shares. 

 
6. Income taxes 

IAS 12 is similar to Canadian GAAP in that the Company has to recognize 
deferred (future) taxes on temporary differences between the carrying 
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value of assets and liabilities and their tax basis. The adoption of IFRS will 
have a significant impact on the Company's tax accounting in the period of 
adoption and in subsequent periods for new temporary differences arising 
on the conversion to IFRS as a result of changes in carrying values of 
assets, differences in depreciation expense, residual values, capitalization 
of borrowing and direct costs and impairment charges and reversals.  
 

Additional IFRS that are expected to require changes, but with potentially lesser 
impact on existing reporting, are: 

• Decommissioning Liabilities - IFRS requires current rates to be used each 
reporting date to discount the obligation over time, whereas current 
Canadian GAAP sets the discount rates when the cash flows are 
estimated.  

• Share Based Payments - IFRS requires, that where options vest in 
tranches each, each tranche must be valued separately and expensed 
accordingly. Furthermore, IFRS requires an estimate of future forfeitures 
to be made in valuing the amount of stock-based compensation to be 
recognized. The Company has decided to apply IFRS 1 exemptions (see 
above) on the first time adoption.  
 

In the period leading up to the changeover, the AcSB will continue to issue 
accounting standards that are converged with IFRS, thus mitigating the impact of 
adopting IFRS at the changeover date. The International Accounting Standards 
Board will also continue to issue new accounting standards during the conversion 
period, and as a result, the final impact on the Company’s consolidated financial 
statements will only be measured once all the IFRS applicable at the conversion 
date are known. 

 
The Company has commenced Phase 3 of the project and has completed the 
January 1, 2010 opening balance and will be preparing quarterly financial 
statements for 2010 under IFRS for comparative purposes for 2011. 
 
Critical Accounting Estimates 
 
PetroWorth has no critical accounting estimates other than the carrying value of 
deferred natural gas exploration expenditures and the estimated value of stock-
based compensation.  Stock based compensations are calculated based on fair 
value using the Black-Scholes option pricing model.  The model is based on 
assumptions such as volatility of the Company’s historical stock price, risk free 
discount rate and the expected average term of the option.  Historical stock price 
may not reflect future volatility of the stock and the expected average term of the 
option is only an estimation of best effort.  Any changes in these assumptions will 
affect the fair value of the options. 
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Reserves 
 
No reserves estimates have been made since the disposal of the wells in Alberta 
on December 1, 2009. 
 
Depletion 
Deferred natural gas exploration expenditures are depleted based on the 
proportion of estimated proved natural gas reserves produced during the year 
compared to total proved natural gas reserves produced during the year 
compared to total proved reserves.  Changes in proved reserve estimates could 
materially impact depletion expense.   
 
Impairment 
Impairment assessments are based on fair value assessments.  Impairment 
exists if the undiscounted future net cash flows from proved reserves at future 
commodity prices plus the cost of unproved properties are less than the carrying 
value.  If an impairment is identified a write-down to fair value is required.  The 
fair value is calculated based on future net cash flows from proved plus probable 
reserves, discounted at a risk-free interest rate using future commodity prices, 
plus the cost of unproved properties.  There is a significant uncertainty regarding 
future commodity prices and reserves.  Impairment could result in a material loss 
for a particular period, however future depletion expense would also be reduced. 
 
Stock based compensation 
Stock based compensations are calculated based on fair value using the Black-
Scholes option pricing model.  The model is based on assumptions such as 
volatility of the Company’s historical stock price, risk free discount rate and the 
expected average term of the option.  Historical stock price may not reflect future 
volatility of the stock and the expected average term of the option is only an 
estimation of best effort.  Any changes in these assumptions will affect the fair 
value of the options. 
 
Financial Instruments and other instruments 
 
6.14  
 
The Company has designated its cash and cash equivalents as loans and 
receivables.  Cash and cash equivalents consist of two prime linked guaranteed 
investment certificates (“GIC”) totaling $1,500,000 which have been invested with 
a reputable financial institutions and currently bear interest at approximately 1% 
per annum.  Sales tax receivable is designated as loans and receivables, and 
accounts payable and accrued liabilities are designated as other financial 
liabilities.  These financial instruments are initially measured at fair value and are 
subsequently measured on the basis of amortized cost using the effective 
interest rate method.  Assets held for trading are revalued on the reporting date 
based on relevant market information and information about the financial 
instrument.  These valuations are estimates and changes in assumptions could 
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significantly affect the estimate. At December 31, 2010, the Company did not 
have any financial instruments carried at fair value that require classification 
within the fair value hierarchy. 
 
The carrying value of cash and cash equivalents, sales tax receivable, and 
accounts payable and accrued liabilities reflected in the balance sheet 
approximate fair value because of the limited term of these instruments.  
 
The Company’s risk exposures and the impact of the Company’s financial 
instruments are summarized below.  There have been no changes in the risks, 
objectives, policies and procedures from the previous period. 
 
a) Credit risk is the risk of an unexpected loss if a customer or third party to a 

financial instrument fails to meet its contractual obligations.  Cash and 
cash equivalents are composed of financial instruments issued by large 
Canadian financial institutions with high investment-grade ratings and 
management believes the risk of loss to be remote.  Further, the Company 
limits its credit risk to any individual counterparty.  The Company's sales 
tax receivables consist primarily of GST and HST due from the Federal 
Government of Canada.  Management believes that the credit risk 
concentration with respect to sales tax receivable is remote. 

 
b) Market risk is the risk that the fair value of future cash flows of a financial 

instrument will fluctuate because of changes in the market prices and is 
comprised of four types of risk: 

 
i) Interest rate risk arises because of changes in market interest 

rates.  The Company's cash equivalents, are subject to minimal risk 
of changes in value, have an original maturity of 90 days or less 
from the date of purchase and are readily convertible into cash.   

 
ii) Capital risk arises because of a change in capital market 

conditions.  The Company manages its capital with the objective of 
providing adequate capital resources for the Company.  The capital 
structure of the Company consists of shareholders’ equity and 
depends on the ability of the Company to raise ongoing capital.   

 
iii) The Company’s functional and report currency is the Canadian 

dollar. Currency risk arises because of changes in foreign 
exchange rates.  Nearly all of the Company's current activities are 
priced in Canadian dollars.   

 
iv) Other price risk arises because of changes in market prices other 

than those due to interest rates and currency changes.  The 
Company is exposed to price risk with respect to commodity and 
equity prices.  Equity price risk is the potential adverse impact on 
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the Company's ability to raise new capital and generate earnings 
due to movement in the Company's equity price or general 
movement in the level of the stock market.  Commodity price risk is 
the potential adverse impact on earnings and economic value due 
to commodity price movements and volatilities.  The Company 
monitors commodity prices of oil and natural gas in addition to 
individual equity movements and the stock market to determine 
appropriate courses of action to be taken by the Company. 

 
c) Liquidity risk is the risk that the Company will not be able to meet its 

obligations associated with financial liabilities as they fall due.  The 
Company's investment policy is to invest its excess cash in high-grade 
investment securities with varying terms to maturity, selected with regard 
to the expected timing of expenditures for continuing operation.  Accounts 
payable and accrued liabilities are all current.  As at December 31, 2010, 
the Company had a cash and cash equivalents balance of $1,925,717 
(2009 - $937,049) to settle currently liabilities of $389,685 (2009 - 
$484,980).  In addition the Company has various property commitments 
as reflected in Notes 8 and 12. 

 
d) Sensitivity analysis   

 
i) As at December 31, 2010, the carrying and fair value amounts of 

the Company’s financial instruments are the same.  Based on 
management’s knowledge and experience of the financial markets, 
the Company believes that the movements in interest rates that are 
reasonably possible over the next twelve month period will not have 
a significant impact on the Company.   
 

ii) The Company had limited natural gas production in Alberta in 2009 
which was subject to an increase or decrease in the market price of 
natural gas.  The Company had not hedged its future natural gas 
sales.  On December 1, 2009, the Company divested its natural 
gas production interest in Alberta to focus on natural gas 
exploration in Atlantic Canada.  Fluctuation in natural gas prices do 
not have a significant impact on the Company’s financial results as 
the Company is no longer in the operating stage.   

 
 

Certification 
 
The Company is a “Venture Issuer” for purposes of National Instrument 52-109 
(Certification of Disclosure in Issuer’s Annual and Interim Filings) (“NI 52-109”).  
As a Venture Issuer, the Chief Executive Officer (“CEO”) and Chief Financial 
Officer (“CFO”) of the Company file a Venture Issuer Basic Certificate with 
respect to the financial information contained in the Company’s unaudited interim 
financial statements and the audited annual financial statements and respective 
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accompanying MD&A. In contrast to the Full Certificate under NI 52-109, the 
Venture Issuer Basic Certification includes a ‘Note to Reader’ stating that the 
CEO and CFO do not make any representations relating to the establishment 
and maintenance of disclosure controls and procedures and internal control over 
financial reporting, as defined in NI 52-109.  
 
The President and Chief Financial Officer are each responsible for certifying that 
based on their individual knowledge, having exercised reasonable diligence, the 
Company’s annual filings do not contain any untrue statement of a material fact 
or omit to state a material fact required to be stated or that is necessary to make 
a statement not misleading in light of the circumstances under which it was 
made, for the period covered by the annual filings, and that  having exercised 
reasonable diligence, the annual financial statements together with the other 
financial information included in the annual filings fairly present in all material 
respects the financial condition, results of operations and cash flows of the 
issuer, as of the date of and for the periods presented in the annual filings. 
 
 
7. Market for Securities 
 
7.1 The Company is listed on the CNSX and its common shares are trading 

under the trading symbol “PTW”.   
 
 
8. Consolidated Capitalization 
 
8.1 There has been no material change in the share and loan capital of the 

Company since the date of the comparative financial statements for the 
Company’s most recently completed financial year contained in this Listing 
Statement. 
  

 
9. Options to Purchase Securities 
 
9.1 The Company has a stock option plan (the "Plan"). The number of 

Common Shares reserved for issue under the Plan is 10% of the issued 
and outstanding Common Shares of the Company (62,601,895 shares).  
The Plan authorizes the Board, to grant Options from time to time to 
officers, directors, employees and consultants of the Company and its 
affiliates.  As of the date of this Listing Statement, the Company has 
1,605,600 stock options outstanding. 
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Option Summary as of the date of this Listing Statement 
 
 

Holders 

Common 
Shares 
Under 

Options 
Granted (#) 

Exercise or  
Base Price 
($/Share) 

Market Value of  
Shares Under  

Options on Date 
of Grant ($/Share) Expiry Date 

          

Held by executive  
officers and past  
executive officers  
(2 persons) 

125,000  $                1.55   $                         1.55   June 3, 2013
954,300  $                0.20  $                         0.20   April 25, 2015
950,000  $                0.20  $                         0.20   October 12, 2015

           
Held by directors 
and  
past directors who 
are 
 not also executive  
officers (4 persons) 

180,000  $                1.55   $                         1.55   June 3, 2013
1,378,000  $                0.20  $                         0.20   April 25, 2015
1,300,000  $                0.20  $                         0.20   October 12, 2015

        

Held by employees 
and past 
employees 
 (1 person) 

176,000  $                0.20  $                         0.20   April 25, 2015
50,000  $                0.20  $                         0.20   October 12, 2015

        

Held by 
consultants 
(7 persons) 

50,000  $                1.55   $                         1.55   June 3, 2013
125,000  $                0.20  $                         0.20   April 25, 2015
200,000  $                0.20  $                         0.20   October 12, 2015

Total Options 5,488,300         
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10.  Prior Sales 
 
10.1 Description and designation of securities  
 
The authorized share capital of the Company consists of an unlimited number of 
Common Shares.  The holders of Common Shares are entitled to receive notice 
of and to attend all meetings of the shareholders of the Company and shall have 
one vote for each Common Share held at all meetings of the shareholders of the 
Company.  The holders of Common Shares are entitled to:  (a) receive any 
dividends as and when declared by the board of directors, out of the assets of 
the Company properly applicable to the payment of dividends, in such amount 
and in such form as the board of directors may from time to time determine; and 
(b) receive the remaining property of the Company (after payment of all 
outstanding debts) in the event of any liquidation, dissolution or winding-up of the 
Company.  The holders of the Common Shares have no pre-emptive, redemption 
or conversion rights. 
 
Certain Common Shares have been issued as Flow-Through Shares. These 
shares also receive certain Canadian tax benefits.   
 
10.2 During the year ended December 31, 2010, the Company completed 

financings consisting of flow-through and non-flow-through shares.  The 
Company 16,764,714 flow-through shares and 2,375,000 non-flow-
through common shares.  As of December 31, 2010 and the date of this 
Listing Statement, PetroWorth had 62,601,895 common shares issued 
and outstanding and 88,468,144 on a fully-diluted basis.    

 
10.3  Stock Exchange Price 
 

As at December 31, 2010, the common shares of the Issuer were listed 
and posted for trading on the Canadian National Stock Exchange (CNSX) 
under the symbol “PTW” and the Frankfurt Stock Exchange in Germany 
under the symbol “T3F”.   
 
The following table provides a monthly summary of the Issuer’s common 
share on the CNSX during the most recent 8 quarters: 

 
Month Volume High  Low Close 

Dec-10 542,000 0.24 0.10 0.10 
Nov-10 713,500 0.32 0.20 0.25 
Oct-10 1,576,867 0.33 0.15 0.32 
Sep-10 288,325 0.19 0.11 0.19 
Aug-10 573,200 0.19 0.15 0.18 
Jul-10 257,925 0.195 0.17 0.185 
Jun-10 771,500 0.21 0.14 0.18 
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Month Volume High  Low Close 
May-10 895,000 0.25 0.16 0.19 
Apr-10 979,200 0.205 0.14 0.19 
Mar-10 1,450,500 0.20 0.14 0.19 
Feb-10 483,000 0.20 0.135 0.19 
Jan-10 516,334 0.20 0.16 0.16 
Dec-09 1,222,600 0.20 0.10 0.20 
Nov-09 724,168 0.185 0.11 0.185 
Oct-09 842,500 0.22 0.12 0.16 
Sep-09 898,550 0.18 0.14 0.17 
Aug-09          550,500 0.23 0.15 0.18 
Jul-09          537,850 0.26 0.18 0.25 
Jun-09      1,004,500 0.30 0.20 0.215 
May-09            84,300 0.25 0.13 0.21 
Apr-09          231,000 0.23 0.15 0.20 
Mar-09          572,900 0.26 0.13 0.20 
Feb-09          379,800 0.26 0.15 0.18 
Jan-09      3,577,363 0.30 0.205 0.26 

 
 

11.  Escrowed Securities 
 
11.1 As of December 31, 2009 no common shares of the Company are being 

held in escrow.  
 
12.  Principal Shareholders 
 
12.1  
 
(1) To the knowledge of the directors and senior officers of the Company, no 

person or corporation beneficially owns, directly or indirectly, or exercises 
control or direction over more than 10% of the outstanding Common 
Shares, except for Lawrence Enterprise Fund for 10,000,000 shares 
(15.97%). 

 
(2)  The Company is not requalifying following a fundamental change nor has 

it proposed an acquisition, amalgamation, merger, reorganization or 
arrangement.  

 
(3)  To the knowledge of the directors and senior officers of the Company, no 

voting trusts or other similar agreements in respect of its securities are in 
existence except for a Shareholder Rights Plan.  

 

  
 

33



(4)  There is no principal shareholder that is an associate or affiliate of another 
person or company named as a principal shareholder.  

 
 
13  Directors and Officers 
 
13.1   
 

Name, Municipality 
of Residence, and 

Position 
Position held with 

Company  
Present Occupation and Positions Held During 

the Last Five Years 
 
Colman O’Brien 
Toronto, ON 
 

 
 

Director 

 
PetroWorth Resources Inc. - Chairman since April 
2007. CEO - Advanced Media Services (2005-6), 
Executive Vice-President - Rockwater Capital Inc. 
(2002-3), President and Vice-Chairman - Bay 
Street Direct Inc. (1999-2002). 
 

 
Neal Mednick,  
Toronto, ON  
 

 
 

Director and President 

 
President of Petroworth since November 2006. 
Previously independent director of the Corporation 
since 2004. Director, Public Affairs for JTI-
Macdonald Corp. in Toronto (2002-6).   
 

 
Bill Forster (1) 
Hammond Plains, 
N.S.  
 

 
Director 

 
Independent consultant, formerly President  
Encana/Ocean Rig East Coast Drilling partnership 
from 2002 to 2005. 

 
 
Alan Graham (1) 

Rexton, N.B. 
 

 
 

Director and Chairman of the 
Board 

 
Mr. Graham served 31 years as a member of the 
New Brunswick Legislative Assembly holding a 
number of senior positions as Liberal Caucus 
Chairperson and Opposition House Leader, 
Minister of Natural Resources and Energy (under 
two Premiers) and as Deputy Premier in 1997. He 
is an active director with a number of corporations 
and Commissioner, Canadian Nuclear Safety 
Commission in Ottawa. 
 

 
Amy Stephenson 
Toronto, ON  
 

 
 

Director and Chief Financial 
Officer 

 
Equity research analyst E-Research (2004-
present), CFO, Canuc Resources Corp. (2007 – 
2009), CFO, GoldQuest Mining Corp. (2004-6), 
CFO and Manager, Corporate Development 
Hanfeng Evergreen Inc. (2003-4), Senior Associate 
Evans & Evans (2000-3)  
 

 
Michael Raleigh (1) 
Texas, USA 

 
Director 

 
Energy Advisor and manager of oil and gas 
investment funds.  Head of the European Division 
of Schlumberger’s consulting division (1996 – 
2000). 
 

 
 (1)  Independent directors. 
 
 
 
 
 
 

  
 

34



13.2  Period or periods during which each director has served as a director and 
when his or her term of office will expire. 

 
Name of Director Director since Directorship expires 
O’Brien, Colman April 2007 Next Annual General Meeting 
Mednick, Neal September 2004 Next Annual General Meeting 
Forster, Bill November 2006 Next Annual General Meeting 
Graham, Alan January 2008 Next Annual General Meeting 
Stephenson, Amy April 2007 Next Annual General Meeting 
Raleigh, Michael January 2009 Next Annual General Meeting 
 
13.3  The table below sets out the number and percentage of securities of each 

class of voting securities of the Company or any of its subsidiaries 
beneficially owned, directly or indirectly, or over which control or direction 
is exercised by all directors and executive officers of the Issuer as a 
group. 

 
Number of Common Shares Percentage of Common Shares 

453,211 0.7% 
 
 
13.4  Board committees and the members of each committee. 
 

The Board of Directors has constituted two committees - an Audit 
Committee and a Corporate Governance and Compensation Committee. 
 
Audit Committee 
 
The Audit Committee is responsible for: assisting the Board in the 
discharge of its fiduciary responsibilities relating to the Company's 
accounting policies, reporting practices and internal controls; relationships 
with and oversight of the Company's external auditors; the Company's 
annual and interim financial statements; management discussion and 
analysis; financial information included in the Company's disclosure 
documents; significant audit findings; and corporate standards. The Audit 
Committee consists of three directors namely, Alan Graham (Chair), Bill 
Forster and Michael Raleigh. Each of the members is financially literate 
and is independent of management of the Company. 
 
Corporate Governance and Compensation Committee 
 
The Corporate Governance and Compensation Committee is responsible 
for the establishment and maintenance of appropriate corporate 
governance policies and practices and for reviewing and making 
recommendations to the Board of Directors regarding compensation and 
benefit issues and management succession, including acting as a 
nominating committee. The Corporate Governance and Compensation 
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Committee currently is constituted by three members – Alan Graham 
(Chair), Bill Forster and Michael Raleigh, all of whom are independent 
directors 

 
13.5  Directors involvement in issuers other than the Company.  
 
 The following is a summary of the involvement of the Company’s directors 

in other issuers: 
 
 

Director Directorships 

Colman O’Brien Frontline Gold Corp. 

William (Bill) Forster None 

Alan Graham Landrill International Inc. 

Neal Mednick None 

Amy Stephenson None 

Michael Raleigh None 

 
13.6  No director or officer of the Company, or shareholder holding a sufficient 

number of securities of the Company to affect materially the control of the 
Issuer or officer of the Company was, within ten years of the date hereof, 
subject of a cease trade or similar order, or an order that denied the other 
Issuer access to any exemptions under Ontario securities law, for a period 
of more than 30 consecutive days. 

 
No director or officer of the Company, or shareholder holding a sufficient 
number of securities of the Company to affect materially the control of the 
Company or officer  of the Company has, within ten years of the date 
hereof, been declared bankrupt or made a voluntary assignment in 
bankruptcy, made a proposal under any legislation relating to bankruptcy 
or insolvency or been subject to or institute any proceedings, arrangement 
or compromise with creditors or had a receiver, receiver manager or 
trustee appointed to hold his or her assets. 

 
13.7  No director or officer, or shareholder holding a sufficient number of 

securities of the Company to affect materially the control of the Issuer or 
officer of the Company has, within ten years of the date hereof, been 
subject to any penalties or sanctions imposed by a court relating to 
Canadian securities legislation or by a Canadian securities regulatory 
authority or has entered into a settlement agreement with a Canadian 
securities regulatory authority. 
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No director or officer, or shareholder holding a sufficient number of 
securities of the Company to affect materially the control of the Company 
or officer of the Company has, within ten years of the date hereof, been 
subject to any other penalties or sanctions imposed by a court or 
regulatory body that would be likely to be considered important to a 
reasonable investor making an investment decision. 

 
13.8  No director or officer of the Company, or a shareholder holding sufficient 

securities of the Company to affect materially the control of the Company, 
or a personal holding company of any such persons has, within the 10 
years before the date of the Listing Statement, has become bankrupt, 
made a proposal under any legislation relating to bankruptcy or 
insolvency, or been subject to or instituted any proceedings, arrangement 
or compromise with creditors, or had a receiver, receiver manager or 
trustee appointed to hold its assets. 

 
13.9  None of the directors or officers of the Company and no associate or 

affiliate of any of them, has or has had any material interest in any 
transaction which materially affects the Company. There are potential 
conflicts of interest to which some of the directors and officers of the 
Company may be subject in connection with their operations. 

 
Some of the directors and officers are engaged in and will continue to be 
engaged in searches for corporations, businesses or assets, and may 
from time to time be involved in managerial or director positions with other 
oil and gas exploration companies whose operations may, from time to 
time, be in direct competition with those of the Company or with entities 
which may from time to time, provide financing to, or make equity 
investments in, competitors of the Company. Conflicts, if any, will be 
subject to and governed by the procedures and remedies set forth in the 
OBCA. The OBCA provides that in the event that a director has an interest 
in a contract or proposed contract or agreement, the director shall disclose 
his interest in such contract or agreement and shall refrain from voting on 
any matter in respect of such contract or agreement unless otherwise 
provided by the OBCA. 

 
13.10  Management 
 

Neal Mednick, - Mr. Mednick is 58 years old and is the President and 
Director of the Company.  He has been acting as Interim President of the 
Company since October 2006 and became full-time President in March 
2007.  Mr. Mednick is a seasoned communications professional with 
extensive experience in issues management and crisis communications. A 
former journalist and senior speechwriter with Shell Canada Resources 
Inc., he obtained his B.A. from the University of Toronto.  He has been 
closely involved in the development of the Company since his election as 
a Director in September 2004.   
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Amy Stephenson, CFA – Mrs. Stephenson is 51 years old and is the 
Chief Financial Officer and Director of the Company.  Her services are 
provided as an independent contractor to the Company on a ‘full/part-time’ 
basis.  Mrs. Stephenson has over 20 years experience in financing and 
management of public companies and has been CFO of a number of 
public companies since 1992.  Mrs. Stephenson is a CFA Charterholder.   
She completed her MBA in Finance at the California State University, 
Sacremento. She is a member of the Program Strategy Advisory 
Committee of the Toronto CFA Society and a non-member (Public) 
Council to the Association of Professional Geoscientists of Ontario 
(APGO). 
 

14.  Capitalization 
 
14.1   
 
Issued Capital 

Number of Number of % of % of 
Securities  Securities Issued Issued 
(non-
diluted) 

(fully 
diluted) 

(non 
diluted) 

(fully 
diluted) 

     
Public Float     

Total outstanding (A) 62,601,895 88,468,144 100.0% 100.0%

Held by Related Persons or employees of the 
Issuer or Related Person of the Issuer, or by 
persons or companies who beneficially own or 
control, directly or indirectly, more than a 5% 
voting position in the Issuer  (or who would 
beneficially own or control, directly or 
indirectly, more than a 5% voting position in 
the Issuer upon exercise or conversion of 
other securities held) (B) 

10,453,211 25,566,511 16.7% 28.9%

Total Public Float (A-B) 52,148,684 62,901,633 83.3% 71.1%

Freely-Tradable Float  

Number of outstanding securities subject to 
resale restrictions, including restrictions 
imposed by pooling or other arrangements or 
in a shareholder agreement and securities 
held by control block holders (C) 

0 0 0% 0%

Total Tradable Float (A- C) 
 

62,601,895
 

88,468,144 100.0% 100.0%
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Public Securityholders (Registered) 
 
For the purposes of this report, "public securityholders" are persons other than 
persons enumerated in section (B) of the previous chart.  
 
Class of Security 
 

Size of Holding  Number of holders  Total number of 
securities 

1 – 99 securities              -                   -    

100 – 499 securities -  - 

500 – 999 securities -  - 

1,000 – 1,999 securities 1  1,900 

2,000 – 2,999 securities 1  2,400 

3,000 – 3,999 securities 1  3,333 

4,000 – 4,999 securities -  - 

5,000 or more securities 53  62,594,262 

Total   62,601,895 
 
Public Securityholders (Beneficial) 
 
Class of Security 
 

Size of Holding  
 

Number of holders  Total number of 
securities 
 

1 – 99 securities 
 

   

100 – 499 securities 
 

   

500 – 999 securities 
 

   

1,000 – 1,999 securities 
 

   

2,000 – 2,999 securities 
 

   

3,000 – 3,999 securities 
 

   

4,000 – 4,999 securities 
 

   

5,000 or more securities 
 
 

   

Unable to confirm   62,601,895 
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Non-Public Securityholders (Registered) 
 
Class of Security 
 
Size of Holding  
 

Number of holders  Total number of 
securities 

 
1 – 99 securities 
 

   

100 – 499 securities 
 

   

500 – 999 securities 
 

   

1,000 – 1,999 securities 
 

   

2,000 – 2,999 securities 
 

   

3,000 – 3,999 securities 
 

   

4,000 – 4,999 securities 
 

   

5,000 or more securities 
 

1  200,000 

 
14.2  Details for any securities convertible or exchangeable into any class of 

listed securities:  
 
Description of Security (include conversion / 
exercise terms, including conversion / exercise 
price) 

Number of 
convertible / 
exchangeable 
securities outstanding 

Number of listed 
securities issuable 
upon conversion / 
exercise 

“Broker Warrant” – Each whole Broker Warrant 
entitles the holder to purchase one common share 
until July 19, 2012 at a price of $0.30 per share. 

588,235 588,235

Warrant – Each whole warrant entitles the holder to 
purchase one common share until June 30, 2012 at 
a price of $0.30 per share. 

19,139,714 19,139,714

Warrant – Each whole warrant entitles the holder to 
purchase one common share until June 21, 2012 at 
a price of $0.20 per share. 

450,000 450,000

Warrant – Each whole warrant entitles the holder to 
purchase one common share until June 21, 2012 at 
a price of $0.50 per share. 

200,000 200,000

Option – Each option entitles the holder to 
purchase one common share until June 3, 2013 at 
a price of $1.55 per share. 

355,000 355,000

Option – Each option entitles the holder to 
purchase one common share until April 25, 2015 at 
a price of $.20 per share. 

2,633,300 2,633,300

Option – Each option entitles the holder to 
purchase one common share until October 12, 
2015 at a price of $0.20 per share. 

2,500,000 2,500,000
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14.3  Details of any listed securities reserved for issuance that are not included 
in section 14.2. 

 
As of the date of this Listing Statement, there are no listed securities reserved for 
issuance that are not included in section 14.2.   
 
15.  Executive Compensation 
 
15.1   
 
Statement of Executive Compensation: 

 
As of the date hereof, there are three (3) Named Executive Officers of the 
Company. The following tables summarize the total compensation received by 
each of them for the fiscal years indicated.  
 
Summary Compensation Table 
 
For the financial year ended December 31, 2010 the Corporation had two“Named 
Executive Officers” as that term is defined for purposes of the Securities Act 
(Ontario) and the Regulations thereunder.   
 
 The following table (presented in accordance with National Instrument 51-102F6 – 
Statement of Executive Compensation sets forth all annual and long term 
compensation for services in all capacities to the Corporation for the financial year 
ended December 31, 2008, 2009 and 2010. 
 

Name and 
Principal 
Position 

Year Salary Share-
based 

Awards 

Option-
based 

Awards 

Non-equity Incentive 
Plan Compensation 

All Other 
Compensation  

Total  
Compensation 

Annual 
Incentive 

Plans  

Long-
term 

Incentive 
Plans  

Colman 
O’Brien(1) 
Chairman Pasr 

2009 

2008 

$125,000 

$125,000 

$Nil 

$Nil 

$Nil 

$Nil 

$Nil 

$Nil 

$Nil 

$Nil 

$101,875 

$20,000 

$226,875 

$121,200 

Neal Mednick 2010 

2009 

2008 

$140,000 

$140,000 

$140,000 

$Nil 

$Nil 

$Nil 

$Nil 

$Nil 

$Nil 

$Nil 

$Nil 

$Nil 

$Nil 

$Nil 

$Nil 

$3,000 

$8,750 

$20,000 

 

$143,000 

$148,750 

$160,000 

 
President         

Amy 
Stephenson 
Chief Financial 
Officer 

2010 

2009 

2008 

$86,000 

$80,000 

$80,000 

$Nil 

$Nil 

$23,040 

$Nil 

$Nil 

$Nil 

$Nil 

$Nil 

$Nil 

$Nil 

$Nil 

$Nil 

$Nil 

$Nil 

$10,000 

$86,000 

$80,000 

$113,040 
 

(1) Mr. O’Brien’s employment as Executive chairman was terminated in June 2009 and he agreed to receive his 
severance 50% upfront and the balance over a 9 month period. Severance payment for 2009 was $93,750. 
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The Corporation did not pay a bonus to or grant compensation to any Named 
Executive Officer under any pension plan during the financial year ended 
December 31, 2010. 

The following table sets forth information concerning all awards outstanding 
under option-based incentive plans of the Corporation at the end of the most 
recently completed financial year to each Named Executive Officer. 

Name and 
Principal 
Position 

Option-based Awards Share-based Awards 

No. Securities 
Underlying 

Unexercised 
Options 

Option 
Exercise 

Price 

Option 
Expiration 

Date 

Value of 
Unexercised 
In-the-money 

Options(1) 

No. of Shares 
or Units of 
Shares that 

Have Not 
Vested 

Market or  
Payout Value of  

Share-based  
Awards that Have 

Not Vested(1) 

Neal Mednick       
President and 
Director 

90,000 
696,000 
650,000 

$1.55 
$0.20 
$0.20 

Jun 3, 2013 
Apr. 26, 2015 
Oct. 13, 2015 

$Nil 
$Nil 
$Nil 

 

Nil 
Nil 
Nil 

 

$Nil 
$Nil 
$Nil 

 

Amy Stephenson       
CFO and Director 35,000 

258,000 
300,000 

 

$1.55 
$0.20 
$0.20 

Jun 3, 2013 
Apr. 26, 2015 
Oct. 13, 2015 

$Nil 
$Nil 
$Nil 

 

Nil 
Nil 
Nil 

 

$Nil 
$Nil 
$Nil 

 
Notes: 

(1) Value is calculated by multiplying the number of securities which may be acquired on exercise of the option by the 
difference, if any, between the market value of the securities underlying the options at exercise or financial year-
end, respectively, and the exercise of base price of the options.  The closing price of the Corporation’s common 
shares on December 30, 2009, the last day during the most recently completed fiscal year on which any shares 
traded, was $0.20. 

(2) Mr. O’Brien resigned as chairman on June 25, 2009. 

 
Option-based Awards – Value Vested or Earned During the Year 
 
The value vested or earned during the most recently completed financial year of 
option-based awards granted to Named Executive Officers are as follows: 

Name and Principal 
Position 

Option-based Awards – Value 
Vested During the Year(1) 

Shares-based Awards – Value 
Vested During the Year 

Non-equity Incentive Plan 
Compensation – Value 
Earned During the Year 

Neal Mednick $Nil N/A N/A 
President and 
Director 

   

    

Amy Stephenson $Nil N/A N/A 
CFO and Director     
    
Notes: 

(1) Value is calculated by multiplying the number of securities which may be acquired on exercise of the option by 
the difference, if any, between the market value of the securities underlying the options at exercise or financial 
year-end, respectively, and the exercise of base price of the options.  The closing price of the Corporation’s 
common shares on December 30, 2009, the last day during the most recently completed fiscal year on which 
the Corporation’s shares were traded, was $0.20. 
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Pension Plan Benefits 

The Corporation does not have a pension plan that provides for payments or 
benefits to the Named Executive Officers at, following, or in connection with 
retirement. 

Termination and Change of Control Benefits 

In the event of a change in control defined as any transaction or series of 
transactions which directly or indirectly result in a change in the ownership of the 
issued shares of the Corporation resulting in one person or group of persons 
acting in concert owning or controlling in excess of 50% of the issued shares of 
the Corporation or the sale or transfer of a majority of the assets of the 
Corporation to a third party, the Chairman, President and Chief Financial Officer 
shall be entitled to a payment equivalent of up to 24 months fees at the then rate 
received after 4 years of services.    

Compensation of Directors 
 
Other than independent directors of the Corporation, no other directors received 
any compensation for acting as directors for the financial year ending December 
31, 2010.  The following summarizes the compensation for independent directors 
for the financial year ending December 31, 2010: 

Name  Fees(1) 
Earned 

Share-
based 

Awards 

Option-
based 

Awards 

Non-equity Incentive 
Plan Compensation 

Pension 
Value 

All Other 
Compensation  

Total 

Annual 
Incentive 

Plans  

Long-
term 

Incentive 
Plans  

   

 
Michael Raleigh 

 
$15,000 

 
$Nil 

 
$Nil 

 
$Nil 

 
$Nil 

 
N/A 

 
$Nil 

 
$15,000 

 

William (Bill) 
Forster 

$15,000 $Nil $Nil $Nil $Nil N/A $Nil $15,000 

Alan Graham $39,000 $Nil $Nil $Nil $Nil N/A $Nil $39,000 
 
Colman O’Brien 

 
$15,000 

 
$Nil 

 
$Nil 

 
$Nil 

 
$Nil 

 
N/A 

 
$Nil 

 
$15,000 

1. Each of Messrs. Forster, Graham & Raleigh received a monthly director fee of $1,250.  Mr. Graham received an 
additional $2,000 as Chairman of the Board. 
 
 

Option-based Awards 

The following table sets forth information concerning all awards outstanding 
under option-based plans of the Corporation at the end of the most recently 
completed financial year to each of the directors of the Corporation who were not 
Named Executive Officers during the financial year ended December 31, 2010. 
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Name 

No. Securities 
Underlying 

Unexercised 
Options 

 
 

Option 
Exercise Price 

 
 

Option Expiration 
Date 

 
 

Value of Unexercised In-the-
money Options(1) 

Michael Raleigh 220,000 $0.20 April 25, 2015 $Nil 
 300,000 $0.20 October 12, 2015 $Nil 
Colman O’Brien 90,000 $1.55 June 3, 2013 $Nil 
 649,000 $0.20 April 25, 2015 $Nil 
 400,000 $0.20 October 12, 2015 $Nil 
William (Bill) Forster 15,000 $1.55 June 3, 2013 $Nil 
 289,000 $0.20 April 25, 2015 $Nil 
 300,000 $0.20 October 12, 2015 $Nil 
Alan Graham 75,000 $1.55 Jun 3, 2013 $Nil 
 220,000 $0.20 April 25, 2015 $Nil 
 300,000 $0.20 October 12, 2015 $Nil 
     
Notes: 
 
(1) Value is calculated by multiplying the number of securities which may be acquired on exercise of the option by 

the difference, if any, between the market value of the securities underlying the options at exercise or financial 
year-end, respectively, and the exercise of base price of the options.  The closing price of the Corporation’s 
common shares on December 30, 2009, the last day during the most recently completed fiscal year on which 
the Corporation’s shares were traded, was $0.20. 

 

Option-based Awards – Value Vested or Earned During the Year 
The value vested or earned during the most recently completed financial year of incentive plan 
awards granted to directors who are not Named Executive Officers are as follows. 

Name Option-based Awards – Value Vested During the Year(1) 

Colman O’Brien $Nil 

Michael Raleigh $Nil 
William (Bill)Forster $Nil 
Alan Graham $Nil 
Notes: 

(1) This amount is the dollar value that would have been realized computed by obtaining the difference between the 
market price of the underlying securities at exercise and the exercise or base price of the options under the option-
based award on the vesting date. 

(2) Mr. O”Brien resigned as Executive Chairman on June 25, 2009 but remained as director. 

 
Securities Authorized For Issuance Under Equity Compensation Plans  
 
The following table sets out information pertaining to securities authorized for 
issuance by the Corporation under equity compensation plans at the end of the 
most recently completed financial year. 
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Plan Category No. of securities to be 
issued upon exercise of 

outstanding options, 
warrants and rights(1) 

 

Weighted-average  
exercise price of  

outstanding options, 
warrants and rights 

No. of securities remaining available 
for future issuance under equity 
compensation plans (excluding 

securities reflected in the second 
column )(1) 

Equity Compensation plans  
approved by securityholders 

5,488,300 $0.20 Nil 

Equity Compensation plans  
not approved by securityholders 

20,377,949 $0.30 N/A 

Total 25,866,249  Nil 
 

Termination of Employment, Change in Responsibilities and Employment 
Contracts 
 
The corporation has no management contracts or other arrangements in place 
where management functions are performed by a person other than the directors 
or officers of the Company. 
 
16.  Indebtedness of Directors and Executive Officers  
 
16.1 No directors, proposed directors, senior officers, or any of their respective 

associates or affiliates were indebted to the Corporation during fiscal 2009 
and as of the date of this Listing Statement are indebted to the 
Corporation as at date hereof. 

 
17  Risk Factors 
 
17.1  An investment in the Company’s shares may be considered speculative 

and is subject to a number of risk factors. The following factors should be 
considered carefully in evaluating the Company and its business. 

 
Risks Associated with the Exploration, Development and Production of Oil 
and Natural Gas May Not Be Insurable 
 
The Company's operations are subject to the risks normally incident to the 
operation and development of oil and natural gas properties and the drilling of oil 
and natural gas wells, including encountering unexpected formations or 
pressures, blow-outs and fires, all of which could result in the personal injuries, 
loss of life and damage to property of the Company and others. In accordance 
with customary industry practice, the Company is not fully insured against all of 
these risks, nor are all such risks insurable. As referred to under "Industry 
Conditions – Environmental Regulation", environmental regulation is becoming 
increasingly stringent and costs and expenses of regulatory compliance are 
increasing. The Company expects it will be able to fully comply with all regulatory 
requirements in this regard. 
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Dependence on Key Personnel 
 
The success of the Company will be largely dependent upon the quality of its 
management and personnel. Loss of the services of such persons, or the inability 
to attract personnel of equal ability, could materially adversely affect the 
Company's business operations and prospects. The Company has not, as yet, 
purchased "key man" insurance on any of its directors, officers or key 
employees, but plans to do so in the near future. 
 
Conflicts of Interest 
 
There are potential conflicts of interest to which some of the directors and officers 
of the Company may be subject in connection with its operations. Conflicts of 
interest, if any, will be subject to and governed by the procedures and remedies 
set forth in the OBCA. 
 
Management of Growth 
 
The Company may be subject to growth–related risks including capacity 
constraints and pressure on its internal systems and controls. The ability of the 
Company to manage growth effectively will require it to continue to implement 
and improve its operational and financial systems and to expand, train and 
manage its employee base. The inability of the Company to deal with this growth 
could have a material adverse impact on its business, operations and prospects. 
 
Government Regulation 
 
The oil and natural gas industry is subject to extensive controls and regulations 
imposed by various levels of government. It is not expected that any of these 
controls or regulations will affect the operations of the Company in a manner 
materially different than they would affect other oil and gas companies of similar 
size. All current legislation is a matter of public record and the Company is 
unable to predict what additional legislation or amendments may be enacted. 
 
Competition 
 
In its efforts to acquire properties, the Company competes with other companies 
that have significantly greater resources. Many of these companies not only 
explore for and produce oil and gas, but also conduct refining and petroleum 
marketing operations on a worldwide basis. Competition for producing properties 
will be affected by the amount of funds available to the Company, information 
available to the Company and any standards established by the Company for the 
minimum projected return on investment. Competition may also be presented by 
alternative fuel sources. 
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Risks Associated with Oil and Gas Exploration 
 
Oil and gas exploration is intensely competitive and involves a high degree of 
risk. There can be no assurance that commercial production of hydrocarbons can 
be obtained from any of the Company's properties, nor are there any assurances 
that production, if obtained, will be in sufficient quantities to be profitable. There 
can be no assurance that commercial quantities of hydrocarbons will be 
recovered by the Company in the future. The marketability of any oil and gas 
acquired or discovered will be affected by numerous factors beyond the control of 
the Company. These factors include market fluctuations, proximity and capacity 
of oil and gas pipelines and processing equipment and government regulations 
(including regulations relating to royalties, allowable production, importing and 
exporting of oil and gas, and environmental protection). In addition, hazards such 
as unusual or unexpected formations, pressures or other conditions are involved 
in drilling and operating wells. 
 
Financial Risks 
 
The Company does not presently have sufficient financial resources to undertake 
by itself all of its planned exploration and development programs. The exploration 
and development of the Company's properties depend, therefore, on the 
Company's ability to obtain additional financing through joint ventures, debt 
financing, equity financing or other means. There can be no assurance that the 
Company will obtain necessary additional financing or that any joint venture 
partner will obtain financing under the terms of any joint venture agreement into 
which it enters with the Company. The failure of the Company to obtain additional 
financing on a timely basis or on terms favourable to the Company could result in 
the loss or substantial dilution of the Company's interests (as existing or as 
proposed to be acquired) in its properties. In addition, the failure of any joint 
venture partner to obtain any required financing could adversely affect the 
Company's ability to complete the exploration or development of any such joint 
venture project on a timely basis. Should the Company elect to satisfy its cash 
commitments through the issuance of securities, by way of either private 
placement or public offering, there can be no assurance that the Company's 
efforts to raise such funding will be successful, or achieved on terms favourable 
to the Company or its existing shareholders. 
 
Expiration of Licences and Leases 
 
The Company's properties will be held in the form of licenses and leases and 
working interests in licenses and leases. If the Company or the holder of the 
licence or lease fails to meet the specific requirement of a licence or lease, the 
licence or lease may terminate or expire. There can be no assurance that any of 
the obligations required to maintain each licence or lease will be met. The 
termination or expiration of the Company's licences or leases or the working 
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interests relating to a licence or lease may have a material adverse effect on the 
Company's results of operation and business. 
 
Environmental Regulation 
 
Hazards incident to the exploration and development of oil and gas properties 
such as accidental spills or leakage of petroleum liquids and other unforeseen 
conditions may be encountered by the Company. The Company may be subject 
to liability for pollution and other damages due to hazards which cannot be 
insured against due to prohibitive premium costs or for other reasons. 
Governmental regulations relating to environmental matters could also increase 
the cost of doing business or require alteration or cessation of operations in 
certain areas. Existing and possible fixture environmental legislation, regulations 
and actions could give rise to additional expense, capital expenditures, 
restrictions and delays in the activities of the Company, the extent of which 
cannot be predicted. Regulatory requirements and environmental standards are 
subject to constant evaluation and may be significantly increased, which could 
materially and adversely affect the business of the Company or its ability to 
develop its properties on an economically feasible basis. Before development 
and production can commence on any properties, the Company must obtain 
regulatory and environmental approvals. There is no assurance that such 
approvals will be obtained on a timely basis or at all. The cost of compliance with 
changes in governmental regulations has the potential to reduce the profitability 
of operations or preclude entirely the economic development of a property. 
 
Fluctuation in Oil and Gas Prices 
 
As with most other companies involved in resource exploration, the Company 
may be adversely affected by future increases in the costs of conducting 
exploration, development and resource extraction that may not be fully offset by 
increases in the price received on sale of the petroleum or natural gas. The 
Company's revenues, profitability and future growth and the carrying value of its 
oil and gas properties will be substantially dependent on prevailing prices of oil 
and gas. The Company's ability to borrow and to obtain additional capital on 
attractive terms will also be substantially dependent upon oil and gas prices. 
Prices for oil and gas are subject to large fluctuations in response to relatively 
minor changes in the supply of and demand for oil and gas, market uncertainty 
and a variety of additional factors beyond the control of the Company. These 
factors include economic conditions in the United States and Canada, the actions 
of the Organization of Petroleum Exporting Countries, governmental regulation, 
political stability in the Middle East and elsewhere, the foreign supply of oil and 
gas, the price of foreign imports and the availability of alternative fuel sources. 
Any substantial and extended decline in the price of oil and gas would have an 
adverse effect on the Company's carrying value of its proved reserves, borrowing 
capacity, revenues, profitability and cash flows from operations. Volatile oil and 
gas prices make it difficult to estimate the value of producing properties for 
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acquisition and often cause disruption in the market for oil and gas producing 
properties, as buyers and sellers have difficulty agreeing on such value. Price 
volatility also makes it difficult to budget for and project the return on acquisitions 
and development and exploitation projects. 
 
Uncertainty of Global Financial Markets 
 
The U.S. credit crisis in 2008 resulted in a loss of confidence that spread beyond 
the U.S. to affect the global credit and financial markets.  Despite many of the 
world’s stock indices showing signs of recovery in 2009, the global financial 
markets remain volatile.  Petroworth along with all other junior oil and gas 
exploration entities relies heavily on accessing capital markets for financing 
exploration programs.  Petroworth’s ability to do so is dependent on, among 
other factors, the overall state of capital markets and investor appetite for 
investments in the energy industry and Petroworth’s securities in particular.   
 
Tax Treatment of Flow-Through Shares 
 
The tax treatment applicable with respect to oil and gas activities and flow-
through shares constitutes a major factor when considering an investment in 
Flow-Through Shares. There is no guarantee that the taxation laws and 
regulations and the current administrative practices of both the federal and 
provincial tax authorities will not be amended or construed in such a way that the 
tax considerations for a subscriber of Flow-Through Shares will not be altered, 
and moreover there is no guarantee that there will not be any differences of 
opinion between the federal and provincial tax authorities with respect to the tax 
treatment of the Flow-Through Shares, the status of the Flow- Through Shares 
and the activities contemplated by the Company's exploration and development 
programs. Flow-Through Shares are designed for investors whose income is 
subject to high marginal tax rates. No guarantee can be given that Canadian tax 
laws will not be amended, that the amendments announced with respect to such 
laws will be adopted or that the current administrative practices of the tax 
authorities will not be modified. In addition, there is no guarantee that the 
projected tax deductions will be accepted by the CCRA. Consequently, the tax 
considerations for subscribers holding or selling Flow-Through Shares may be 
fundamentally altered.  
 
 
18.  Promoters 
 
18.1 PetroWorth does not have a promoter at this time.  
 
18.2 Not applicable. 
 
18.3 Not applicable.  
 
18.4 Not applicable. 
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19.  Legal Proceedings 
 
19.1  As of the date of this Listing Statement, the Company is not involved in 

any legal proceedings. 
 
20.  Interest of Management and Others in Material Transactions 
 
20.1 Other than the foregoing and as set out herein, management is not aware 

of any material interest in any matter to be acted upon or any material 
transaction, direct or indirect, of any director, proposed director or senior 
officer of the Company, or of any persons, beneficially owning, directly or 
indirectly, more than 10% of the Company's voting shares or of any 
associate or affiliate thereof. 

 
21.  Auditors, Transfer Agents and Registrars 
 
21.1  The auditors of the Company are McGovern Hurley Cunningham LLP, 

through its office at 300 - 2005 Sheppard Avenue East, Toronto, Ontario    
M2J 5B4.  

 
21.2 Equity Transfer Services Inc., through its principal office at Equity Transfer 

& Trust Company, 200 University Avenue, Suite 400, Toronto ON M5H 
4H1 is the transfer agent and registrar for the Common Shares of the 
Company. 

 
22.  Material Contracts 
 
22.1  The Company has not entered into any contracts material to investors 

within the two years before the date of this Listing Statement, other than 
the Shareholder Right’s Plan. 

 
22.2  There is no co-tenancy, unitholders' or limited partnership agreement. 
 
23  Interest of Experts 
 
23.1  No person or company whose profession or business gives authority to a 

statement made by the person or company and who is named as having 
prepared or certified a part of the Listing Statement or prepared or certified 
a report or valuation described or included in the Listing Statement has 
any direct or indirect interest in the property or shares of the Company. 

 
24.  Other Material Facts 
 
24.1  There are no material fact about the Issuer and its securities other than 

the ones disclosed in the herein Listing Statement. 
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25.  Financial Statements 
 
25.1  Provide the following audited financial statement for the Issuer. 
 

(a)  Copies of all financial statements including the auditor's reports 
required to be prepared and filed under applicable securities 
legislation for the preceding three years as if the issuer were 
subject to such law; and 

 
(b)  a copy of financial statements for any completed interim period of 

the current fiscal year. 
 
 Please see financial statements attached to the herein Listing Statement. 
 
25.2  The Company is not re-qualifying for listing following a fundamental 
change. 
 
CERTIFICATE OF THE ISSUER 
The foregoing contains full, true and plain disclosure of all material information 
relating to PetroWorth Resources Inc. It contains no untrue statement of a 
material fact and does not omit to state a material fact that is required to be 
stated or that is necessary to prevent a statement that is made from being false 
or misleading in light of the circumstances in which it was made. 
 
Dated at Toronto this _28_th day of April, 2011. 
 
 
Signed: “Neal Mednick”     Signed: “Amy Stephenson” 
 
President 
Neal Mednick 

 Chief Financial Officer 
Amy Stephenson 

 
Signed: “Alan Graham” 
 

  
Signed: “Colman O’Brien”
 

Director 
Alan Graham 

 Director 
Colman O’Brien 
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INDEPENDENT AUDITORS’ REPORT 
 
 

To the Shareholders of Petroworth Resources Inc.  
 
We have audited the accompanying financial statements of Petroworth Resources Inc., which comprise the balance 
sheets as at December 31, 2010 and 2009, and the statements of operations, comprehensive (loss) and deficit, and 
statements of cash flows for the years then ended, and a summary of significant accounting policies and other 
explanatory information. 
 
Management's Responsibility for the Financial Statements 
Management is responsible for the preparation and fair presentation of these financial statements in accordance with 
Canadian generally accepted accounting principles and for such internal control as management determines is 
necessary to enable the preparation of financial statements that are free from material misstatement, whether due to 
fraud or error. 
 
Auditor's Responsibility 
Our responsibility is to express an opinion on these financial statements based on our audits. We conducted our 
audits in accordance with Canadian generally accepted auditing standards. Those standards require that we comply 
with ethical requirements and plan and perform the audit to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the financial 
statements are free from material misstatement. 
 
An audit involves performing procedures to obtain audit evidence about the amounts and disclosures in the financial 
statements. The procedures selected depend on the auditor's judgment, including the assessment of the risks of 
material misstatement of the financial statements, whether due to fraud or error. In making those risk assessments, 
the auditor considers internal control relevant to the entity's preparation and fair presentation of the financial 
statements in order to design audit procedures that are appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the purpose of 
expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of the entity's internal control.  An audit also includes evaluating the 
appropriateness of accounting policies used and the reasonableness of accounting estimates made by management, 
as well as evaluating the overall presentation of the financial statements. 
 
We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our audit 
opinion.  
 
Opinion  
In our opinion, the financial statements present fairly, in all material respects, the financial position of Petroworth 
Resources Inc. as at December 31, 2010 and 2009, and its financial performance and its cash flows for the years 
then ended in accordance with Canadian generally accepted accounting principles. 
 
Emphasis of Matter 
Without qualifying our opinion, we draw attention to Note 1 in the financial statements which describes that the 
Company is in the development stage and will require additional financing to fund the development of its properties.  
This condition indicates the existence of a material uncertainty that may cast doubt about the Company’s ability to 
continue as a going concern.  
 
 McGOVERN, HURLEY, CUNNINGHAM, LLP 

 Chartered Accountants 
 Licensed Public Accountants 
TORONTO, Canada 
April 28, 2011 



PetroWorth Resources Inc. 
(A Development Stage Company) 
Balance Sheets  
As at December 31,  
 

See accompanying notes to the audited financial statements 2 

2010 2009 
  

ASSETS   
  

Current   
Cash and cash equivalents $  1,925,717 $ 937,049 
Sales tax receivable 145,390 31,534 
Prepaid expenses and sundry assets (Note 12)  247,669 625,749 

  
 2,318,776 1,594,332 

Equipment (Note 7)  48,842 63,782 
Natural gas exploration (Note 8)  23,332,366  21,490,209 

$ 25,699,984 $ 23,148,323 
  

LIABILITIES   
  

Current   
Accounts payable and accrued liabilities $ 389,685 $ 484,980 

  
  

SHAREHOLDERS' EQUITY   
  

Share capital (Note 9(a)) $ 35,304,234 $  33,134,515 
Contributed surplus (Note 9(d))  8,085,780  5,665,737 
(Deficit) (18,079,715) (16,136,909) 

  
25,310,299  22,663,343 

  
$ 25,699,984 $  23,148,323 

Nature of operations and going concern (Note 1) 
Commitments and contingencies (Notes 8 and 12) 
 
 
Approved by the Board 
 
Director  Signed: “Neal Mednick” Director  Signed: “Amy Stephenson”  
 
 



PetroWorth Resources Inc. 
(A Development Stage Company) 
Statements of Operations, Comprehensive (loss) and Deficit 
For the Years Ended December 31,  
 

See accompanying notes to the audited financial statements 3 

2010  2009 

Operating Revenues   
Revenues $ - $ 222,353 
Royalty expense - (68,501) 
Operating expense  - (286,876) 

  
 - (133,024) 
  

Expenses   
Professional fees 111,236 127,850 
General and administrative 215,310 253,403 
Travel and promotion 84,109 120,853 
Consulting fees 128,694 69,086 
Salaries and management fees 470,236 657,777 
Stock-based compensation (Note 9(c)) 950,495 - 
Impairment of oil and gas properties (Note 8) - 3,821,370 
Depletion & depreciation  16,940 239,452 

  
1,977,020 5,289,791 

  
(Loss) before the following items (1,977,020) (5,422,815) 

Interest income  21,914 44,536 
Realized gain on investment held-for-trading - 37,380 
Other income (loss) 12,300 (62,123) 

  
  

(Loss) before income tax (1,942,806) (5,403,022) 
 
Future income tax recovery (Note 6) - 1,082,000 

  
Net (loss) and comprehensive (loss) for the year (1,942,806) (4,321,022) 

  
(Deficit), beginning of year (16,136,909) (11,815,887) 

  
(Deficit), end of year $ (18,079,715) $ (16,136,909) 

  
Net (loss) per share - basic & diluted $ (0.04) $ (0.10) 

  
Weighted average number of shares –  
basic & diluted 54,837,888 43,389,104 
 



PetroWorth Resources Inc. 
(A Development Stage Company) 
Statements of Cash Flows 
For the Years Ended December 31, 
 

See accompanying notes to the audited financial statements 4 

2010 2009 
Cash and cash equivalents provided by (used in):   

  
Operating Activities   

Net (loss) for the year $ (1,942,806) $ (4,321,022)
Adjustments for items not affecting cash   

Depletion and depreciation 16,940 239,452 
Shares issued for services - 20,000 
Gain on disposal of property - 291,252 
Impairment of oil and gas properties - 3,821,370 
Stock-based compensation 950,495 - 
Future income tax recovery - (1,082,000)

(975,371) (1,030,948)
  

Changes in non-cash components of working capital   
Sales tax receivable (113,856) 658,775 
Prepaid expenses and sundry assets 378,080 (15,817)
Accounts payable and accrued liabilities 27,670 37,222 

  
 $ (683,477) $ (350,768)

  
Investing Activities   

Natural gas exploration  $ (1,842,157) $  (2,485,617) 
Change in exploration accounts payable (122,965)  (319,158) 
Sale of investments -   186,686 
Purchase of equipment (2,000)  (1,562) 

  
 $ (1,967,122) $  (2,619,651) 

  
Financing Activities   

Proceeds from private placements  3,780,443 -  
Share issue costs (141,176) 

  
3,639,267 - 

  
Increase (decrease) in cash and cash equivalents  $ 988,668 $ (2,970,419) 
 
Cash and cash equivalents, beginning of the year  $ 937,049 $  3,907,468 

  
Cash and cash equivalents, end of the year  $ 1,925,717 $ 937,049 

  
SUPPLEMENTAL INFORMATION   
Warrants issued for share issue costs  $ 70,588 $ - 
Interest paid  $ - $ - 
Income taxes paid  $  - $ - 
 



PetroWorth Resources Inc. 
(A Development Stage Company) 
Notes to Financial Statements 
For the Years Ended December 31, 2010 and 2009 
 

 5 

1. Nature of operations and going concern 
 
Petroworth Resources Inc. (“the Company” or “Petroworth”) is engaged in the acquisition, 
exploration and development of oil and gas reserves in Canada. On December 1, 2009, the 
Company disposed of its producing property located in the province of Alberta.  As such, effective 
2009, the Company re-entered the development stage as defined by the Canadian Institute of 
Chartered Accountants (the “CICA”) Accounting Guideline 11. 
 
The ability of the Company to realize the costs it has incurred to date on its properties is 
dependent upon the Company being able to identify economically recoverable reserves, to 
finance their development costs and to resolve any environmental, regulatory, or other 
constraints, which may hinder the successful development of the reserves. 

 
Although the Company has taken steps to verify title to the properties on which it is conducting 
exploration and development activities and in which it has an interest, in accordance with industry 
standards for the current stage of exploration and development of such properties, these 
procedures do not guarantee the Company’s title.  Property title may be subject to government 
licensing requirements or regulations, unregistered prior agreements, unregistered claims, and 
non-compliance with regulatory and environmental requirements. 
 
These financial statements have been prepared in accordance with Canadian generally accepted 
accounting principles (“GAAP”), as applicable to a going concern.  Accordingly, they do not give 
effect to adjustments that would be necessary should the Company be unable to continue as a 
going concern and therefore be required to realize its assets and liquidate its liabilities and 
commitments in other than the normal course of business and at amounts different from those in 
the accompanying financial statements, such adjustments could be material. The Company has a 
need for financing for working capital, and the exploration and development of its properties. 
Because of continuing operating losses, the Company's continuance as a going concern is 
dependent upon its ability to obtain adequate financing and to reach profitable levels of 
operation. It is not possible to predict whether financing efforts will be successful or if the 
Company will attain profitable levels of operations.  
 

2. Significant Accounting Policies 
 

These financial statements have been prepared in accordance with GAAP and their basis of 
application is consistent with that of the previous year.  The financial statements have been 
prepared within the reasonable limits of materiality and the framework of significant accounting 
policies described below. 

 
(a) Cash and cash equivalents 

 
The Company defines cash and cash equivalents as cash and short-term investments 
with maturity dates of less than ninety days. The Company invests cash in term deposits 
maintained in high credit quality institutions.  As at December 31, 2010, the cash and 
cash equivalents balance was comprised of $425,717 in cash and $1,500,000 in cash 
equivalents (2009 - cash: $937,049 cash equivalents: $Nil). 
 

(b) Investments 
 
Securities which are traded on a recognized securities exchange and for which no sales 
restrictions apply are recorded at fair values based on quoted closing prices at the 
balance sheet date or the closing price on the last day the security traded if there were no 
trades at the balance sheet date.  The Company did not hold any investments as at 
December 31, 2010 and 2009. 



PetroWorth Resources Inc. 
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2. Significant Accounting Policies (Continued) 
 

(c) Natural Gas Exploration Properties  
 

The Company accounts for crude oil and natural gas properties in accordance with CICA 
accounting guideline 16 on full cost accounting in the oil and gas industry.  Under this 
method, all costs associated with the acquisition of, exploration for, and the development 
of, natural gas and crude oil reserves, including asset retirement costs, are capitalized 
within a separate cost centre for each country in which the Company has oil and gas 
activities.  Such costs include lease acquisition, lease rentals on undeveloped properties, 
geological and geophysical, drilling both productive and non-productive wells, production 
equipment and overhead charges directly related to acquisition, exploration and 
development activities.  All costs have been capitalized in a single Canadian cost centre.  
Capitalized costs are assessed at the end of each reporting period to determine if there 
has been an impairment.  Any costs considered impaired are written-off and a 
corresponding loss is recognized in operations.   
 
Depletion and Depreciation 

 
When a property is no longer in the exploration stage, costs accumulated within the 
property are depreciated, depleted and amortized using the unit-of-production method 
based on estimated gross proved reserves as determined by independent engineers.  
For purposes of this calculation, gas is converted to oil on an energy equivalent basis.  
Capitalized costs subject to depletion are net of equipment salvage values and include 
estimated future costs to be incurred in developing proved reserves.  Proceeds from the 
disposal of properties are normally deducted from the full cost pool without recognition of 
a gain or loss unless that deduction would result in a change to the rate of depreciation, 
depletion and amortization of 20 percent or greater in which case a gain or loss is 
recorded.  Costs of major development projects and costs of acquiring and evaluating 
significant unproved properties are excluded from costs subject to depletion until it is 
determined whether or not proved reserves are attributable to the properties, or 
impairment has occurred. 
 
Ceiling Test 
 
Under the full cost method of accounting, a limit is placed on the carrying amount of 
natural gas properties.  A “ceiling test” is performed to recognize and measure 
impairment, if any.  An impairment loss is recognized in operations when the carrying 
amount of natural gas properties is not recoverable and exceeds its fair value.  The 
carrying amount of a property is not recoverable if it exceeds the sum of the 
undiscounted cash flows from proved reserves.  If the sum of the cash flows is less than 
the carrying amount, the impairment loss is limited to the amount by which the carrying 
amount exceeds the sum of:  (a) the fair value of proved and probable reserves; and (b) 
the costs of unproved properties that have been subject to a separate impairment test 
and contain no probable reserves.   
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2. Significant accounting policies (Continued) 
 

(d) Asset retirement obligations 
 

Asset retirement obligations include the costs related to the abandonment of oil and gas 
properties, dismantling and removing tangible equipment and returning the land to its 
original condition.  The Company recognizes an asset retirement obligation (“ARO”) in 
the period in which it is identified and a reasonable estimate of the fair value can be 
made.  Fair value is estimated based on the present value of the estimated future cash 
outflow to abandon the asset, discounted at the Company’s credit-adjusted risk-free 
interest rate.  The fair value of the estimated ARO is recorded as a long-term liability with 
a corresponding amount capitalized to exploration properties.  The amount capitalized is 
charged to operations through the depletion and depreciation of oil and gas properties.  
The ARO liability is increased each reporting period due to the passage of time and the 
amount of accretion is charged to operations.  Revisions to the original estimated cost or 
the timing of the cash outflows may result in a change to the ARO.  Actual costs incurred 
to settle the ARO reduce the long-term liability.  Management is not aware of any 
significant asset retirement obligations as at December 31, 2010 and 2009. 

 
(e) Use of Estimates 

 
The preparation of financial statements in conformity with generally accepted accounting 
principles requires management to make estimates and assumptions that affect the 
reported amount of assets and liabilities and disclosure of contingent assets and liabilities 
at the date of the financial statements and the reported amounts of revenues and 
expenses during the reporting period. The most significant estimates are related to 
natural gas reserves, the recoverability of expenditures and valuation of natural gas 
exploration properties (ceiling test) and equipment, asset retirement obligations, valuation 
of stock-based compensation, valuation of income tax accounts and valuation of 
contingencies. Actual results could differ from those reported and these differences could 
be material. Management believes that the estimates are reasonable. 

 
(f) Future income taxes 
 

The Company accounts for and measures future tax assets and liabilities in accordance 
with the asset and liability method. Under this method, future income tax assets and 
liabilities are recognized for estimated tax consequences attributable to differences 
between the financial statement carrying amounts of existing assets and liabilities and 
their respective tax bases. Future tax assets and liabilities are measured using enacted 
or substantively enacted tax rates expected to apply to taxable income in the years in 
which those temporary differences are expected to be recovered or settled. The effect of 
a change in income tax rates on future tax liabilities and assets is recognized in 
operations in the period that includes the date of enactment or substantive enactment of 
the change. When the future realization of income tax assets does not meet the test of 
being more likely than not to occur, a valuation allowance in the amount of the potential 
future benefit is taken and no net asset is recognized. 
 



PetroWorth Resources Inc. 
(A Development Stage Company) 
Notes to Financial Statements 
For the Years Ended December 31, 2010 and 2009 
 

 8 

2. Significant accounting policies (Continued) 
 

(g) Equipment 
 

Equipment is recorded at cost.  Amortization is calculated using the diminishing balance 
method over the useful life of the assets at the following annual rates: 

 
Office furniture  20% 
Computer hardware  30% 
 
Leasehold improvements are recorded at cost.  Amortization is calculated using the 
straight-line method over the term of the lease.   
 

(h) Stock-based compensation 
 

The Company has a stock option plan that allows employees, directors and consultants 
to be granted options to purchase common shares at a fixed price.  The Company has 
adopted the recommendations of the CICA Handbook Section 3870, Stock-based 
Compensation and Other Stock-based Payments, which requires a fair value based 
method of accounting be applied to all stock-based compensation arrangements.  The 
fair value of each option is accounted for in operations, over the vesting period of the 
options, and the related credit is included in contributed surplus.  See Note 9(c).  The fair 
value of the options is estimated using the Black-Scholes option pricing model.   
 
Consideration paid upon the exercise of the stock options, together with corresponding 
amounts previously recognized in contributed surplus are recorded as an increase to 
share capital.    

 
(i) Flow-through shares 
 

The Company has financed a portion of its exploration activities through the issue of flow-
through shares, which transfer the tax deductibility of exploration expenditures to the 
investor.  Proceeds received on the issue of such shares have been credited to share 
capital and the related exploration costs have been charged to natural gas exploration. 

 
Resource expenditure deductions for income tax purposes related to exploration and 
development activities funded by flow-through share arrangements are renounced to 
investors in accordance with income tax legislation.  When these expenditures are 
renounced, temporary taxable differences created by the renunciation will reduce share 
capital. 
 
The Company indemnifies the subscribers of flow-through shares from any tax 
consequences arising from the failure of the Company to meet its commitments under the 
flow-through subscription agreements. 
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2. Significant accounting policies (Continued) 
 

(j) Comprehensive (loss) 
 
Comprehensive (loss), composed of net (loss) and other comprehensive (loss) is defined 
as the change in shareholders’ equity from transactions and other events from non-owner 
sources.  Other comprehensive (loss) (“OCL”) includes unrealized gains and losses on 
available-for-sale securities and changes in the fair market value of derivatives 
designated as cash flow hedges, all net of related income taxes.  The components of 
comprehensive (loss) are disclosed in the statement of operations and comprehensive 
(loss).  Cumulative changes in OCL are included in accumulated other comprehensive 
Loss (“AOCL”) which is presented as a category in shareholders’ equity.  The Company 
does not currently have any OCL items or AOCL; therefore, comprehensive (loss) is 
equal to net (loss) for the years ended December 31, 2010 and 2009. 
 

(k) (Loss) per share 
 

Basic (loss) per share is calculated using the weighted average number of shares 
outstanding during the year.  Diluted (loss) per share is calculated using the treasury 
stock method.  In order to determine diluted (loss) per share, the treasury stock method 
assumes that any proceeds from the exercise of dilutive stock options and warrants 
would be used to repurchase common shares at the average market price during the 
period, with the incremental number of shares being included in the denominator of the 
diluted (loss) per share calculation.  The diluted (loss) per share calculation excludes any 
potential conversion of options and warrants that would increase earnings per share or 
decrease loss per share.  Total shares issuable from options and warrants excluded from 
the computation of diluted loss per share because they were anti-dilutive for the year 
ended December 31, 2010 were 5,488,300 (2009 – 2,815,600) and 20,377,949 (2009 – 
298,355), respectively. 
 

(l) Revenue recognition 
 

Revenue from oil and natural gas sales are recognized when persuasive evidence of a 
sale arrangement exists, the risks and rewards of ownership passes to the purchaser 
including delivery of the product, the selling price is fixed or determinable, and 
collectability is reasonably assured. 

 
(m) Project operating expenses 

 
Operating expenses include amounts incurred on extraction of production to surface, 
gathering, field processing, treating, field storage, transportation and taxes.   
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2. Significant accounting policies (Continued) 
 

 (n) Financial Instruments 
 

Financial assets and liabilities, including derivative instruments, are initially recognized 
and subsequently measured based on their classification as “held-for-trading”, “available-
for-sale” financial assets, “held-to-maturity”, “loans and receivables”, or “other” financial 
liabilities.  Held-for-trading financial instruments are measured at their fair value with 
changes in fair value recognized in operations for the period.  Available-for-sale financial 
assets are measured at their fair value and changes in fair value are included in other 
comprehensive (loss) until the asset is removed from the balance sheet or until any 
impairment is determined to be other than temporary. Held-to-maturity investments, loans 
and receivables and other financial liabilities are measured at amortized cost using the 
effective interest rate method.  Derivative instruments, including embedded derivatives, 
are measured at their fair value with changes in fair value recognized in operations for 
the period, unless the instrument is a cash flow hedge and hedge accounting is applied, 
in which case changes in fair values are recognized in other comprehensive (loss).  
 
Fair value measurements are classified using a fair value hierarchy that reflects the 
significance of the input used in making the measurements.  The fair value hierarchy 
shall have the following levels: (a) quoted market prices (unadjusted) in active markets 
for identical assets or liabilities (Level 1); (b) inputs other than quoted market prices 
included in Level 1 that are observable for the asset or liability, either directly (i.e., as 
prices) or indirectly (i.e. derived from prices) (Level 2); and (c) inputs for the asset or 
liability that are not based on observable market data (unobservable inputs) (Level 3). 

 
3. Future Accounting Changes 
 

(a) Business Combinations, Consolidated Financial Statements and Non-controlling Interests 
 
In January 2009, the CICA issued Section 1582, Business Combinations, Section 1601, 
Consolidated Financial Statements, and Section 1602, Non-controlling Interests, which replace 
Section 1581, Business Combinations and Section 1600, Consolidated Financial Statements. 
Section 1582 establishes standards for the accounting for business combinations that is 
equivalent to the business combination accounting standard under International Financial 
Reporting Standards (“IFRS”). Section 1582 is applicable for business combinations with 
acquisition dates on or after January 1, 2011.  Early adoption of the section is permitted. Section 
1601 together with Section 1602 establishes standards for the preparation of consolidated 
financial statements. Section 1601 is applicable for the Company’s interim and annual 
consolidated financial statements for the fiscal years beginning on or after January 1, 2011. Early 
adoption of this section is permitted. The Company decided not to early adopt this section. The 
Company does not believe the adoption of this standard will have a material impact on its 
financial statements. 
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3. Future accounting changes (Continued) 
 
 (b) International Financial Reporting Standards (“IFRS”) 
 

In January 2006, the Canadian Accounting Standard Board (“AcSB”) announced its decision to 
replace Canadian GAAP with IFRS.  On February 13, 2008 the AcSB confirmed January 1, 2011 
as the mandatory changeover date to IFRS for all Canadian publicly accountable enterprises.  
This means that PetroWorth will be required to prepare IFRS financial statements for the interim 
period and fiscal years ending in 2011.  
 
The Company has completed the preliminary impact assessment of IFRS on financial reporting.  
During the year ended December 31, 2010, the Company also completed detailed analyses of 
key issues, impact on systems and processes and identification of accounting alternatives in 
order to make decisions on accounting policies.  The Company is also in the process of compiling 
the opening balance sheet for January 1, 2010 under IFRS and will be required to present 2010 
comparative data in 2011.  The Company is currently quantifying the impact of the changeover. 

 
4. Financial instruments 
 

The Company has designated its cash and cash equivalents as loans and receivables.  Cash and 
cash equivalents consist of two prime linked guaranteed investment certificates (“GIC”) totaling 
$1,500,000 which have been invested with a reputable financial institutions and currently bear 
interest at approximately 1% per annum.  Sales tax receivable is designated as loans and 
receivables, and accounts payable and accrued liabilities are designated as other financial 
liabilities.  These financial instruments are initially measured at fair value and are subsequently 
measured on the basis of amortized cost using the effective interest rate method.  Assets held for 
trading are revalued on the reporting date based on relevant market information and information 
about the financial instrument.  These valuations are estimates and changes in assumptions 
could significantly affect the estimate. At December 31, 2010, the Company did not have any 
financial instruments carried at fair value that require classification within the fair value hierarchy. 
 
The carrying value of cash and cash equivalents, sales tax receivable, and accounts payable and 
accrued liabilities reflected in the balance sheet approximate fair value because of the limited 
term of these instruments.  
 
The Company’s risk exposures and the impact of the Company’s financial instruments are 
summarized below.  There have been no changes in the risks, objectives, policies and 
procedures from the previous period. 

 
a) Credit risk is the risk of an unexpected loss if a customer or third party to a financial 

instrument fails to meet its contractual obligations.  Cash and cash equivalents are 
composed of financial instruments issued by large Canadian financial institutions with 
high investment-grade ratings and management believes the risk of loss to be remote.  
Further, the Company limits its credit risk to any individual counterparty.  The Company's 
sales tax receivables consist primarily of GST and HST due from the Federal 
Government of Canada.  Management believes that the credit risk concentration with 
respect to sales tax receivable is remote. 

 
b) Market risk is the risk that the fair value of future cash flows of a financial instrument will 

fluctuate because of changes in the market prices and is comprised of four types of risk: 
 

i) Interest rate risk arises because of changes in market interest rates.  The 
Company's cash equivalents, are subject to minimal risk of changes in value, 
have an original maturity of 90 days or less from the date of purchase and are 
readily convertible into cash.   
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4. Financial Instruments (Continued) 
 

ii) Capital risk arises because of a change in capital market conditions.  The 
Company manages its capital with the objective of providing adequate capital 
resources for the Company.  The capital structure of the Company consists of 
shareholders’ equity and depends on the ability of the Company to raise ongoing 
capital.   

 
iii) The Company’s functional and report currency is the Canadian dollar. Currency 

risk arises because of changes in foreign exchange rates.  Nearly all of the 
Company's current activities are priced in Canadian dollars.   

 
iv) Other price risk arises because of changes in market prices other than those due 

to interest rates and currency changes.  The Company is exposed to price risk 
with respect to commodity and equity prices.  Equity price risk is the potential 
adverse impact on the Company's ability to raise new capital and generate 
earnings due to movement in the Company's equity price or general movement in 
the level of the stock market.  Commodity price risk is the potential adverse 
impact on earnings and economic value due to commodity price movements and 
volatilities.  The Company monitors commodity prices of oil and natural gas in 
addition to individual equity movements and the stock market to determine 
appropriate courses of action to be taken by the Company. 

 
c) Liquidity risk is the risk that the Company will not be able to meet its obligations 

associated with financial liabilities as they fall due.  The Company's investment policy is 
to invest its excess cash in high-grade investment securities with varying terms to 
maturity, selected with regard to the expected timing of expenditures for continuing 
operation.  Accounts payable and accrued liabilities are all current.  As at December 31, 
2010, the Company had a cash and cash equivalents balance of $1,925,717 (2009 - 
$937,049) to settle currently liabilities of $389,685 (2009 - $484,980).  In addition the 
Company has various property commitments as reflected in Notes 8 and 12. 

 
d) Sensitivity analysis   

 
i) As at December 31, 2010, the carrying and fair value amounts of the Company’s 

financial instruments are the same.  Based on management’s knowledge and 
experience of the financial markets, the Company believes that the movements 
in interest rates that are reasonably possible over the next twelve month period 
will not have a significant impact on the Company.   
 

ii) The Company had limited natural gas production in Alberta in 2009 which was 
subject to an increase or decrease in the market price of natural gas.  The 
Company had not hedged its future natural gas sales.  On December 1, 2009, 
the Company divested its natural gas production interest in Alberta to focus on 
natural gas exploration in Atlantic Canada.  Fluctuation in natural gas prices do 
not have a significant impact on the Company’s financial results as the Company 
is no longer in the operating stage.   

 
 

5. Segmented information 
 
The Company operates in one industry segment and is engaged in the exploration of natural gas 
properties. 
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6. Future income taxes 
 

(a)  Provision for income taxes: 
 
Major items causing the Company's income tax rate to differ from the Canadian statutory rates 
of approximately 32.0% (2009 – 32.5%) are as follows:  

 
 2010 2009 
 $ $ 

(Loss) before income taxes  (1,942,806)  (5,403,022) 
 
Expected income tax (recovery)  (621,698)  (1,756,000) 
Adjustments to benefit resulting from: 
Stock-based compensation  304,158  - 
Change in tax rates  48,011  345,356 
Other    (26,471)  (68,356) 
  (296,000)  (1,479,000) 
Change in valuation allowance   296,000  397,000 
Future income tax (recovery)    -  (1,082,000) 

 
 
(b) The future income tax assets (liabilities) consist of the following temporary differences: 
 
 
 2010 2009 
 $ $ 

Equipment  29,000  25,000 
Natural gas properties  (1,299,000)  (1,567,000) 
Share issue costs  111,000  116,000 
Non-capital losses  1,880,000  1,851,000 
Valuation allowance  (721,000)  (425,000) 
Total future income tax (liability)  -  - 
 

 
(c) The Company has approximately $18,610,000 of Canadian exploration and development 

expenditures which, under certain circumstances, may be utilized to reduce taxable income of 
future years.   

 
 As at December 31, 2010, the Company has approximately $6,855,000 of non-capital losses 

in Canada, which can be used to reduce taxable income of future years and expire as follows:   
 

 $ 
2014 810,000 
2015 1,643,000 
2026 1,024,000 
2027 3,010,000 
2029 191,000 
2030 177,000  
 6,855,000 
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7. Equipment 
 

  Cost
Accumulated 
Depreciation

Net Book 
Value

Office furniture 41,657 28,888 12,769
Computer hardware 85,926 67,835 18,091
Leasehold improvements 39,960 21,978 17,982
Balance, December 31, 2010 167,543 118,701 48,842

  Cost
Accumulated 
Depreciation

Net Book 
Value

Office furniture 41,657 26,034 15,623
Computer hardware 83,926 61,741 22,185
Leasehold improvements 39,960 13,986 25,974
Balance, December 31, 2009 165,543 101,761 63,782

 
 
8. Natural gas exploration 
 

The Company was founded to operate as a natural gas exploration, development and production 
company.   
 
Alberta 

On December 1, 2009, the Company entered into a Quitclaim, Assignment and Mutual Release 
Agreement with Forent Energy Ltd. (“Forent”), the operator of the seven farm-in wells in Alberta 
under the Farmout Agreements, whereby PetroWorth would assign its entire interest pursuant to 
the Farmout Agreements to Forent.  The parties agreed to release each other of any obligations 
that each may have against the other in connection with those interests and under the Farmout 
Agreements.  As of December 31, 2010 and 2009, the Company has no oil and gas interest in 
Alberta. 
 
Nova Scotia 

On July 15, 2004, the Company secured a 100% interest in the Exploration Agreement No. 
04-07-15-03 in Victoria counties of Nova Scotia for a term of three years with an annual rental of 
$18,635.  In August 2007, the Nova Scotia Department of Energy extended the Exploration 
Agreement for a further three years, contingent upon the Company meeting its annual work 
commitment.  The Company has put up a deposit of $300,000 of which $100,000 was refunded in 
October 2010 as the Company fulfilled part of its work commitment.  The Company has the right 
to explore the properties until July 15, 2011 so long as the Company has complied with the 
provisions of the permits, paid the annual rental of $18,635 and expends a total of $4,500,000 
prior to July 15, 2011.  The Company has applied for extension on the right to explore this 
property pending issuance of a drilling permit.  The Company will receive the remaining $200,000 
refundable deposit once they have completed the $4,500,000 required expenditures.  As of the 
year ended December 31, 2010, total exploration expenditures totaled $1,904,622. 
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8. Natural gas exploration (continued) 
 
New Brunswick 

The Company has a 100% interest in certain claims in New Brunswick.  The total annual rent for 
these properties is $72,007 and the total work commitments are $1,980,006.  
 
The permits were obtained under the laws of the Province of New Brunswick.  The Company has 
the exclusive right to explore the properties for up to three years so long as the Company has 
complied with the provisions of the permits, paid the annual rental and fulfilled the work 
commitment.  
 
See Note 13.  
 
Prince Edward Island (“PEI”) 

The Company has a 100% interest in certain exploration permits in PEI.  The total annual rent for 
these properties is $44,381.  The permits were obtained under the laws of the Province of PEI.  
The Company has the exclusive right to explore the properties for up to six years so long as the 
Company has complied with the provisions of the permits and paid the annual rental (Note 13(b)).  
Corridor Resources Inc. has earned a 50% interest in one of the Company’s permits while 
Petroworth has earned a 10% interest in one of Corridor Resources Inc.’s permits. 
 
During the year ended December 31, 2010, the total capitalized natural gas exploration and 
development expenditure was $1,842,157 (2009 – $2,485,617), which can be summarized as 
follows:  
 

  2010   2009
Alberta -  84,570
New Brunswick 1,493,953 719,216
Nova Scotia 105,999 1,358,425
Prince Edward Island 242,205 323,406
Total  1,842,157     2,485,617

 
 
 

Beginning Depletion Cumulative 
    Balance  Addition  & Impairment   Total 

December 31, 2010  $ 21,490,209  $       1,842,157  $                 - $    23,332,366
December 31, 2009 $ 23,337,474  $       2,485,617  $  (4,332,882)  $    21,490,209
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9. Share capital 
 

(a)  Common Shares 
 
 Authorized Number of shares Amount 

 Unlimited Common shares 
  
 Balance, December 31, 2008  43,362,181 $ 34,196,515 
  
 Shares issued for service (v)  100,000  20,000 
 Tax effect of issuing flow-through common shares  -  (1,082,000) 
  
 Balance, December 31, 2009  43,462,181 $  33,134,515 
  
 Common shares issued for cash (i) and (iii)  2,375,000 $ 427,500 
 Flow-through shares issued for cash (ii) and (iv)  16,764,714  3,352,943  
 Warrant valuation (i)(ii)(iii)(iv)  -  (1,398,960) 
 Share issue cost  -  (211,764) 
  
 Balance, December 31, 2010  62,601,895 $ 35,304,234 
 

(i) On June 30, 2010, the Company completed a first tranche non-brokered private 
placement and raised gross proceeds of $212,400 by issuing 1,180,000 common share 
units consisting of one common share and one common share purchase warrant at 
$0.18 per unit.  Each common share warrant entitled the holder to purchase a common 
share at $0.30 until June 30, 2012. Each common share purchase warrant was valued 
at $0.071. 

 
(ii) On June 30, 2010, the Company completed a first tranche of a non-brokered flow-

through financing to raise gross proceeds of $1,000,000 by issuing 5,000,000 flow-
through share units consisting of one flow-through shares and one common share 
purchase warrant at $0.20 per unit.  Each common share warrant entitled the holder to 
purchase a common share at $0.30 until June 30, 2012. Each common share purchase 
warrant was valued at $0.071. 
 

(iii) On July 19, 2010, the Company completed the second tranche of a non-brokered 
private placement and raised gross proceeds of $215,100 by issuing 1,195,000 common 
share units consisting of one common share and one common share purchase warrant 
at $0.18 per unit.  Each common share warrant entitled the holder to purchase a 
common share at $0.30 until June 30, 2012. Each common share purchase warrant was 
valued at $0.074. 
 

(iv) On July 19, 2010, the Company completed the second tranche of a non-brokered flow-
through financing to raise gross proceeds of $2,352,943 by issuing 11,764,714 flow-
through share units consisting of one flow-through shares and one common share 
purchase warrant at $0.20 per unit.  Each common share warrant entitled the holder to 
purchase a common share at $0.30 until June 30, 2012. Each common share purchase 
warrant was valued at $0.074. 

 
(v) On July 10, 2009, the Company issued 100,000 common shares to a consultant for 

services provided valued at $20,000. 
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9.  Share Capital (continued) 
 

(b) Warrants 
 

(i) On June 20, 2010, 298,355 common share purchase warrants exercisable at $1.45 per 
share expired unexercised. 
 

(ii) On June 21, 2010, the Company issued 450,000 common share purchase warrants 
exercisable at $0.20 per share until June 21, 2012 to consultants for services provided.  
The estimated grant date fair value was $58,500 using the Black-Scholes option pricing 
model based on the following assumptions: 
 

Expected dividend yield  0% 
Expected annual volatility 148% 
Risk-free interest rate  1.23% 
Expected average life  2 years 

 
(iii) On June 21, 2010, the Company issued 200,000 common share purchase warrants 

exercisable at $0.50 per share until June 21, 2012 to the same consultants for services 
provided.  The estimated grant date fair value was $22,000 using the Black-Scholes 
option pricing model based on the following assumptions: 
 

Expected dividend yield  0% 
Expected annual volatility 148% 
Risk-free interest rate  1.23% 
Expected average life  2 years 

 
(iv) Pursuant to the private placement of flow-through and common shares on June 30, 2010, 

the Company issued 6,180,000 common share purchase warrants exercisable at $0.30 
until June 30, 2012.  The estimated grant date fair value of the warrants issued pursuant 
to the private placement was $439,186 using the Black-Scholes option pricing model 
based on the following assumptions: 
 

Expected dividend yield  0% 
Expected annual volatility 148% 
Risk-free interest rate  1.01% 
Expected average life  2 years 

 
(v) Pursuant to the private placement of flow-through and common shares on July 19, 2010, 

the Company issued 12,959,714 common share purchase warrants exercisable at $0.30 
until June 30, 2012.  The estimated grant date fair value of the warrants issued pursuant 
to the private placement was $959,774 using the Black-Scholes option pricing model 
based on the following  assumptions: 

 
Expected dividend yield  0% 
Expected annual volatility 156.8% 
Risk-free interest rate  1.52% 
Expected average life  1.95 years 
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9.  Share Capital (continued) 
 

(vi) Pursuant to the private placement of flow-through and common shares on July 19, 2010, 
the Company issued 588,235 common share purchase broker warrants exercisable at 
$0.30 until July 19, 2012.  The estimated fair value of the broker warrants issued 
pursuant to the private placement was $70,588 using the Black-Scholes option pricing 
model based on the following  assumptions: 

 
Expected dividend yield  0% 
Expected annual volatility 156.8% 
Risk-free interest rate  1.52% 
Expected average life  2 years 

 
A summary of the changes in the Company's share purchase warrants during the year ended 
December 31, 2009 and 2010 are as follows: 
  Weighted 
  Average 
 Number of  Exercise 
 warrants Price 
 
Balance, December 31, 2008  1,548,355  $  1.33 
Expired  (1,250,000) $ 1.30 
 
Balance, December 31, 2009  298,355  $  1.45 
Expired  (298,355)  $    1.45 
Issued   20,377,949  $  0.30 
 
Balance, December 31, 2010  20,377,949  $  0.30 

 
As at December 31, 2010, the following common share purchase warrants were outstanding: 
 
Expiry date Exercise Price Warrants 

June 21, 2012  0.20  450,000 
June 21, 2012  0.50  200,000 
June 30, 2012  0.30  19,139,714 
July 19, 2012  0.30    588,235 

    20,377,949 

(c) Stock options 
 
The Company has established a stock option plan pursuant to which options to purchase 
common shares may be granted to certain officers, directors and employees of the Company 
as well as persons providing ongoing services to the Company.  The maximum number of 
common shares reserved for issuance upon the exercise of options is not to exceed 10% 
percent of the total number of common shares outstanding immediately prior to such an 
issuance.  Under the plan, the Board of Directors has the choice of either vesting or allowing  
options issued to be exercisable upon issuance.  Options are normally issued for a five-year 
term. 
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9.  Share Capital (continued) 
 
On April 26, 2010, the Company granted 2,633,300 options (2009 – $Nil) exercisable at 
$0.20 per share until April 25, 2015 to directors, officers, employees and consultants.  All 
options granted were vested immediately.  Stock-based compensation expense of $376,245 
was related to directors, officers and employee compensation while $18,750 (2009 - $Nil) 
was related to compensation for consultants.  The estimated grant date fair value of the 
options was $394,995 (2009 - $Nil) using the Black-Scholes option pricing model based on 
the following weighted average assumptions: 
 

Expected dividend yield  0% 
Expected annual volatility 141% 
Risk-free interest rate  1.26% 
Expected average life  5 years 

 
On October 13, 2010, the Company granted 2,500,000 options (2009 – $Nil) exercisable at 
$0.20 per share until October 12, 2015 to directors, officers, employees and consultants.  All 
options granted were vested immediately.  Stock-based compensation expense of $437,000 
was related to directors, officers and employee compensation while $38,000 (2009 - $Nil) 
was related to compensation for consultants.  The total estimated grant date fair value of the 
options was $475,000 (2009 - $Nil) using the Black-Scholes option pricing model based on 
the following weighted average assumptions: 
 

Expected dividend yield  0% 
Expected annual volatility 166% 
Risk-free interest rate  1.94% 
Expected average life  5 years 

 
A summary of the changes in stock options during the years ended December 31, 2009 and 
2010 are as follows: 
  Weighted 
  Average 
 Number of  Exercise 
 options Price 
 
Balance, December 31, 2008  4,364,074 $ 1.29 
 
Expired  (1,548,474)  (1.00) 
Forfeited  -               - 

Balance, December 31, 2009         2,815,600           1.48 
 
Expired (2,460,600) $       1.48 
 
Granted         5,133,300 $       0.20 

Balance, December 31, 2010        5,488,300 $       0.29 
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9. Share capital (Continued) 
 
As at December 31, 2010, the following stock options were outstanding: 
 
 Options    Grant date 
 Exercisable &  Exercise Fair Value of 
Expiry date  Outstanding  Price per share($)   Options ($) 
 
Jun 3, 2013 355,000 1.55 347,900 
Apr 25, 2015 2,633,300 0.20 394,995 
Oct 12, 2015 2,500,000 0.20 475,000 
 
 5,488,300  1,217,895 
   

The weighted average grant date fair value of options granted during the year ended 
December 31, 2010 is $0.17 (2009 - $Nil) per option. 
 
 

 (d) Contributed surplus 
 
Balance, December 31, 2008 and December 31, 2009 $  5,665,737 
 
Estimated fair value of stock based compensation – options 
 Directors, officers and employees $ 813,245 

 Consultants $ 56,750 
Estimated fair value of stock based compensation – warrants $ 80,500 
Estimated fair value of broker warrants $ 70,588 
Estimated fair value of common share purchase warrants $ 1,398,960 
 
Balance, December 31, 2010 $ 8,085,780 
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10. Capital Management 
 

The Company’s objectives when managing capital are: (i) to safeguard the Company’s ability to 
continue as a going concern in order to pursue the development of its natural gas properties and 
provide returns for shareholders, and (ii) to maintain a flexible capital structure which optimizes 
the cost of capital at an acceptable risk.  
 
The Company includes the components of shareholder’s equity in the management of capital.  
The Company manages the capital structure and makes adjustments to it in light of changes in 
economic conditions and the risk characteristics of the underlying assets.  To maintain or adjust 
the capital structure, the Company may attempt to issue new shares, issue new debt, acquire or 
dispose of assets or adjust the amount of cash and cash equivalents. 
 
To facilitate the management of its capital requirements, the Company prepares forecasts or 
expenditure budgets for its activities that are used to monitor performance.  Variances to the plan 
will result in adjustments to capital deployment subject to various factors and industry conditions.  
The Company’s activities and the associated forecasts or budgets are approved by the Board of 
Directors. 
 
The Company is not subject to any externally imposed capital requirements limiting or restricting 
the use of its capital.  In order to maximize ongoing development efforts, the Company does not  
pay out dividends at this time.  The Company’s investment policy is to invest its cash in highly 
liquid short-term interest-bearing investments with maturities of less than a year from the original 
date of acquisition, selected with regards to the expected timing of expenditure from operations.  
There were no changes in the Company’s approach to capital management during the years 
ended December 31, 2010 and 2009.   
 

11. Related Party Transactions 
 
During the year ended December 31, 2010, the Company has the following related party 
transactions:  

(a) Paid or payable consulting fee of $57,800 (2009 - $Nil) to a director and a former officer 
for providing investor relations services.   

(b) Paid $10,730 (2009 - $Nil) to family members of a director and officer for secretarial and 
temporary service.  

All amounts paid or payable to related parties were incurred in the normal course of business and 
were measured at the exchange amount, which was established and agreed to by the related 
parties. 
 

12. Commitments and Contingencies 
 
Included in prepaid expenses and sundry assets are deposits of $200,000 (2009 - $588,189) with 
the Government of Nova Scotia (Note 8). As of December 31, 2010, the Company also has 
promissory notes issued in the aggregate amount of $ $538,750 (2009 - $288,750) to the 
Government of Prince Edward Island and $1,715,006 to the Government of New Brunswick as a 
commitment to explore for natural gas under the terms of the agreements for the respective 
properties.  The deposits are refundable upon the Company meeting its exploration commitments 
outlined in Note 8.  The promissory notes are contingently payable if the Company retains its 
interest in certain properties but does not meet its exploration commitments as outlined in Note 8.  
As the likelihood of this occurring is not determinable, the contingent payments have not been 
reflected in these financial statements.  
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12. Commitment and Contingencies (continued) 
 
Pursuant to the issuance of flow-through shares described in Note 9(a), the Company is 
committed to spend $3,352,943 in qualifying exploration expenditures by December 31, 2011.  As 
of December 31, 2010, the Company has spent $1,733,486. 
 
The Company is party to certain management contracts.  These contracts contain clauses 
requiring that additional payments of up to $452,000 be made upon the occurrence of certain 
events. As the likelihood of these events taking place is not determinable, the contingent 
payments have not been reflected in these financial statements.  Minimum payments required 
under these contracts approximate $410,000, of which $226,000 is due within one year.  

 
The Company has lease commitments for base rental payments for offices through 2013.  The 
approximate minimum lease commitments for the remaining term of the lease are as follows:  
 

Year $
2011 52,000
2012 52,000
2013 9,000
Total 113,000

 
 
Environmental Contingencies 
 
The Company’s natural gas exploration activities are subject to various federal and provincial 
laws and regulations governing the protection of the environment.  These laws and regulations 
are continually changing and generally becoming more restrictive.  The Company conducts its 
operations so as to protect public health and the environment and believes its operations are 
materially in compliance with all applicable laws and regulations. The Company has made, and 
expects to make in the future, expenditures to comply with such laws and regulations. 

 
 
13. Subsequent Events 
 

(a) On April 8, 2011, six promissory notes totaling $1,655,006 were released by the New 
Brunswick government as the Company has completed sufficient work on the property (see 
Note 12).   

 
(b) In Prince Edward Island, four permits expired in December 2010 and were renewed in March 

2011. The renewed permits will expire in December 2012.    
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AUDITORS' REPORT 
 
To the Shareholders of 
PetroWorth Resources Inc. 
 
 
We have audited the balance sheets of PetroWorth Resources Inc. (“the Company”) as at December 31, 
2009 and 2008 and the statements of operations, comprehensive (loss) and deficit and cash flows for the 
years then ended. These financial statements are the responsibility of the Company's management.  Our 
responsibility is to express an opinion on these financial statements based on our audits. 
 
We conducted our audits in accordance with Canadian generally accepted auditing standards.  Those 
standards require that we plan and perform an audit to obtain reasonable assurance whether the financial 
statements are free of material misstatement.  An audit includes examining, on a test basis, evidence 
supporting the amounts and disclosures in the financial statements.  An audit also includes assessing the 
accounting principles used and significant estimates made by management, as well as evaluating the 
overall financial statement presentation. 
 
In our opinion, these financial statements present fairly, in all material respects, the financial position of 
the Company as at December 31, 2009 and 2008 and the results of its operations and its cash flows for 
the years then ended in accordance with Canadian generally accepted accounting principles. 
 
  
 
 
 McGOVERN, HURLEY, CUNNINGHAM, LLP 

 
Chartered Accountants 

 Licensed Public Accountants 
 
 
 
TORONTO, Canada 
April 2, 2010, except for Note 12, 
which is at April 23, 2010. 
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 2009 2008
  

ASSETS   
  

Current   
Cash and cash equivalents $           937,049 $      3,907,468 
Investments         -          186,686 
Sales tax receivable              31,534         690,309 
Prepaid expenses and sundry assets (Note 11)            625,749         609,932 

  
            1,594,332         5,394,395 
  

Equipment (Note 7)              63,782           81,412 
Natural gas exploration (Note 8)        21,490,209    23,337,474 

$          23,148,323 $       28,813,281 
  

LIABILITIES   
  

Current   
Accounts payable and accrued liabilities $           484,980 $         766,916 

  
SHAREHOLDERS' EQUITY   

  
Share capital (Note 9(a)) $      33,134,515 $    34,196,515 
Contributed surplus (Note 9(d))         5,665,737      5,665,737 
Deficit                                                            (16,136,909)   (11,815,887)

  
$          22,663,343 $       28,046,365 
  

$          23,148,323 $       28,813,281 

 
 
Nature of operations and going concern (Note 1) 
Commitments and contingencies (Notes 8 and 11) 
 
 
Approved by the Board     
 
Director  Signed: “Neal Mednick” Director  Signed: “Amy Stephenson”    



 
PetroWorth Resources Inc. 
Statements of Operations, Comprehensive (loss) and Deficit 
For the Years Ended December 31,  
 

See accompanying notes to the audited financial statements 2 

2009 2008
  

Operating Revenues   
Revenues  $          222,353   $         209,143 
Royalty expense               (68,501) (47,340)
Production expense             (286,876) (157,492)

  
            (133,024)            4,311 

  
Expenses   

Professional fees              127,850             286,596 
General and administrative              253,403  388,451 
Travel and promotion              120,853  251,889 
Consulting fees                69,086 203,342 
Salaries and benefits              657,777  1,162,376 
Stock-based compensation (Note 9(c))                       -  643,947 
Impairment of oil and gas properties (Note 8)           3,821,370  339,214 
Depletion, depreciation & accretion              239,452  206,698 

          5,289,791           3,482,513 
  

Loss before the following items          (5,422,815)         (3,478,202)
Interest income                44,536  269,810 
Gain on investment held-for-trading 37,380  13,660 
(Loss) on disposal of property (62,123)                      -  

  
Loss before income taxes          (5,403,022)    (3,194,732)

Future income tax recovery (Note 6) 
  

1,082,000  938,935 
  

Net (loss) and comprehensive (loss) for the year  $       (4,321,022)  $     (2,255,797)

Deficit, beginning of period  $     (11,815,887)  $     (9,560,090)
  

Deficit, end of year  $     (16,136,909)  $   (11,815,887)
  
  

Net (loss) per share: basic and diluted  $               (0.10)  $             (0.06)
  

Weighted average number of shares: basic and diluted          43,389,104         39,882,284 
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2009 2008
Cash and cash equivalents provided by (used in):   

  
Operating activities   

Net (loss) for the year  $         (4,321,022)  $          (2,255,797)
Adjustments for items not affecting cash   
   Depletion, depreciation and accretion                 239,452  206,699 
   Shares issued for services 20,000  105,000 
   Gain on disposal of property 291,252 -
   Unrealized gain on investment held for trading                         -  (13,660)
   Impairment of oil and gas properties              3,821,370  339,214 
   Stock-based compensation (Note 9(c))                         -  643,947 
   Future income recovery                 (1,082,000)  (938,935)

            (1,030,948)             (1,913,532)
Changes in non-cash components of working capital   
   Sales tax receivable                 658,775                 (195,904)
   Prepaid expenses and sundry assets (15,817) 103,669 
   Accounts payable and accrued liabilities 37,222  (42,243)

 $            (350,768)  $          (2,048,010)
  

Investment activities   
Natural gas exploration  $         (2,485,617)  $        (11,003,867)
Change in exploration accounts payable (319,158)                (341,823)
Sale/(Purchase) of investments 186,686  (173,026)
Purchase of equipment                   (1,562) (54,300)

 $         (2,619,651)  $        (11,573,016)
  

Financing activities   
Issuance of common shares, net of share issue costs  $                         -   $            9,412,131 
Common share repurchased                         -  (1,500,217)
Exercise of options                         -  31,000 

 $                          -   $            7,942,914 
  

Increase (decrease) in cash and cash equivalents  $         (2,970,419)  $          (5,678,112)

Cash and cash equivalents beginning of year  $           3,907,468   $            9,585,580 

Cash and cash equivalents end of year  $              937,049   $            3,907,468 
  

Supplementary information:   
Warrants issued for share issue costs  $                         -   $              251,673 
Interest paid  $                         -   $                         -  
Income taxes paid  $                         -   $                         -  
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1. Nature of operations and going concern 
 
Petroworth Resources Inc. (“the Company” or “Petroworth”) is engaged in the acquisition, 
exploration and development of oil and gas reserves in Canada. On December 1, 2009, the 
Company disposed of its producing property located in the province of Alberta.  As such, effective 
2009, the Company re-entered the development stage as defined by the Canadian Institute of 
Chartered Accountants (the “CICA”) Accounting Guideline 11. 
 
The ability of the Company to realize the costs it has incurred to date on its properties is 
dependent upon the Company being able to identify economically recoverable reserves, to 
finance their development costs and to resolve any environmental, regulatory, or other 
constraints, which may hinder the successful development of the reserves. 

 
Although the Company has taken steps to verify title to the properties on which it is conducting 
exploration and development activities and in which it has an interest, in accordance with industry 
standards for the current stage of exploration and development of such properties, these 
procedures do not guarantee the Company’s title.  Property title may be subject to government 
licensing requirements or regulations, unregistered prior agreements, unregistered claims, and 
non-compliance with regulatory and environmental requirements. 
 
These financial statements have been prepared in accordance with Canadian generally accepted 
accounting principles (“GAAP”), as applicable to a going concern.  Accordingly, they do not give 
effect to adjustments that would be necessary should the Company be unable to continue as a 
going concern and therefore be required to realize its assets and liquidate its liabilities and 
commitments in other than the normal course of business and at amounts different from those in 
the accompanying financial statements, such adjustments could be material. The Company has a 
need for financing for working capital, and the exploration and development of its properties. 
Because of continuing operating, the Company's continuance as a going concern is dependent 
upon its ability to obtain adequate financing and to reach profitable levels of operation. It is not 
possible to predict whether financing efforts will be successful or if the Company will attain 
profitable levels of operations.  
 

2. Significant accounting policies 
 

These financial statements have been prepared in accordance with GAAP and their basis of 
application is consistent with that of the previous year except as disclosed in Note 3.  The 
financial statements have been prepared within the reasonable limits of materiality and the 
framework of significant accounting policies described below. 

 
(a) Cash and cash equivalents 

 
The Company defines cash and cash equivalents as cash and short-term investments 
with maturity dates of less than ninety days. The Company invests cash in term deposits 
maintained in high credit quality institutions.  As at December 31, 2009, the cash and 
cash equivalents balance was comprised of $937,049 in cash (2008 - cash: $12,558 cash 
equivalents: $3,894,910). 
 

(b) Investments 
 
Securities which are traded on a recognized securities exchange and for which no sales 
restrictions apply are recorded at fair values based on quoted closing prices at the 
balance sheet date or the closing price on the last day the security traded if there were no 
trades at the balance sheet date.  The Company’s investments consist of shares of a 
publicly listed corporation and have been classified as held-for-trading. 
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2. Significant accounting policies (Continued) 
 

(c) Natural Gas Exploration Properties  
 

The Company accounts for crude oil and natural gas properties in accordance with the 
Canadian Institute of Chartered Accountants (“CICA”) accounting guideline 16 on full cost 
accounting in the oil and gas industry.  Under this method, all costs associated with the 
acquisition of, exploration for and the development of, natural gas and crude oil reserves, 
including asset retirement costs, are capitalized within a separate cost centre for each 
country in which the Company has oil and gas activities.  Such costs include lease 
acquisition, lease rentals on undeveloped properties, geological and geophysical, drilling 
both productive and non-productive wells, production equipment and overhead charges 
directly related to acquisition, exploration and development activities.  All costs have 
been capitalized in a single Canadian cost centre.  Capitalized costs are assessed at the 
end of each reporting period to determine if there has been an impairment.  Any costs 
considered impaired are written-off and a corresponding loss is recognized in operations.   
 
Depletion and Depreciation 

 
When a property is no longer in the exploration stage, costs accumulated within the 
property are depreciated, depleted and amortized using the unit-of-production method 
based on estimated gross proved reserves as determined by independent engineers.  
For purposes of this calculation, gas is converted to oil on an energy equivalent basis.  
Capitalized costs subject to depletion are net of equipment salvage values and include 
estimated future costs to be incurred in developing proved reserves.  Proceeds from the 
disposal of properties are normally deducted from the full cost pool without recognition of 
a gain or loss unless that deduction would result in a change to the rate of depreciation, 
depletion and amortization of 20 percent or greater in which case a gain or loss is 
recorded.  Costs of major development projects and costs of acquiring and evaluating 
significant unproved properties are excluded from costs subject to depletion until it is 
determined whether or not proved reserves are attributable to the properties, or 
impairment has occurred. 
 
Ceiling Test 
 
Under the full cost method of accounting, a limit is placed on the carrying amount of 
natural gas properties.  A “ceiling test” is performed to recognize and measure 
impairment, if any.  An impairment loss is recognized in operations when the carrying 
amount of natural gas properties is not recoverable and exceeds its fair value.  The 
carrying amount of a property is not recoverable if it exceeds the sum of the 
undiscounted cash flows from proved reserves.  If the sum of the cash flows is less than 
the carrying amount, the impairment loss is limited to the amount by which the carrying 
amount exceeds the sum of:  (a) the fair value of proved and probable reserves; and (b) 
the costs of unproved properties that have been subject to a separate impairment test 
and contain no probable reserves.   
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2. Significant accounting policies (Continued) 
 

(d) Asset retirement obligations 
 

Asset retirement obligations include the costs related to the abandonment of oil and gas 
properties, dismantling and removing tangible equipment and returning the land to its 
original condition.  The Company recognizes an asset retirement obligation (“ARO”) in 
the period in which it is identified and a reasonable estimate of the fair value can be 
made.  Fair value is estimated based on the present value of the estimated future cash 
outflow to abandon the asset, discounted at the Company’s credit-adjusted risk-free 
interest rate.  The fair value of the estimated ARO is recorded as a long-term liability with 
a corresponding amount capitalized to exploration properties.  The amount capitalized is 
charged to operations through the depletion and depreciation of oil and gas properties.  
The ARO liability is increased each reporting period due to the passage of time and the 
amount of accretion is charged to operations.  Revisions to the original estimated cost or 
the timing of the cash outflows may result in a change to the ARO.  Actual costs incurred 
to settle the ARO reduce the long-term liability.  Management is not aware of any 
significant asset retirement obligations at December 31, 2009 and 2008. 

 
(e) Use of Estimates 

 
The preparation of financial statements in conformity with generally accepted accounting 
principles require management to make estimates and assumptions that affect the 
reported amount of assets and liabilities and disclosure of contingent assets and liabilities 
at the date of the financial statements and the reported amounts of revenues and 
expenses during the reporting period. The most significant estimates are related to 
natural gas reserves, the recoverability of expenditures and valuation of natural gas 
exploration properties (ceiling test) and equipment, asset retirement obligations, valuation 
of stock-based compensation, valuation of income tax accounts and valuation of 
contingencies. Actual results could differ from those reported and these differences could 
be material. Management believes that the estimates are reasonable. 

 
(f) Future income taxes 
 

The Company accounts for and measures future tax assets and liabilities in accordance 
with the asset and liability method. Under this method, future income tax assets and 
liabilities are recognized for estimated tax consequences attributable to differences 
between the financial statement carrying amounts of existing assets and liabilities and 
their respective tax bases. Future tax assets and liabilities are measured using enacted 
or substantively enacted tax rates expected to apply to taxable income in the years in 
which those temporary differences are expected to be recovered or settled. The effect of 
a change in income tax rates on future tax liabilities and assets is recognized in 
operations in the period that includes the date of enactment or substantive enactment of 
the change. When the future realization of income tax assets does not meet the test of 
being more likely than not to occur, a valuation allowance in the amount of the potential 
future benefit is taken and no net asset is recognized. 
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2. Significant accounting policies (Continued) 
 

(g) Equipment 
 

Equipment is recorded at cost.  Amortization is calculated using the diminishing balance 
method over the useful life of the assets at the following annual rate: 

 
Office furniture  20% 
Computer hardware  30% 
 
Leasehold improvements are recorded at cost.  Amortization is calculated using the 
straight-line method over the term of the lease.   
 

(h) Stock-based compensation 
 

The Company has a stock option plan that allows employees, directors and consultants 
to be granted options to purchase common shares at a fixed price.  The Company has 
adopted the recommendations of the CICA Handbook Section 3870, Stock-based 
Compensation and Other Stock-based Payments, which requires a fair value based 
method of accounting be applied to all stock-based compensation arrangements.  The 
fair value of each option is accounted for in operations, over the vesting period of the 
options, and the related credit is included in contributed surplus.  See Note 9(c).  The fair 
value of the options is estimated using the Black-Scholes option pricing model.   
 
Consideration paid upon the exercise of the stock options, together with corresponding 
amounts previously recognized in contributed surplus are recorded as an increase to 
share capital.  In the event that vested options expire without being exercised, previously 
recognized compensation costs associated with such stock options are not reversed.  

 
(i) Flow-through shares 
 

The Company has financed a portion of its exploration activities through the issue of flow-
through shares, which transfer the tax deductibility of exploration expenditures to the 
investor.  Proceeds received on the issue of such shares have been credited to share 
capital and the related exploration costs have been charged to natural gas exploration. 

 
Resource expenditure deductions for income tax purposes related to exploration and 
development activities funded by flow-through share arrangements are renounced to 
investors in accordance with income tax legislation.  When these expenditures are 
renounced, temporary taxable differences created by the renunciation will reduce share 
capital. 
 
The Company indemnifies the subscribers of flow-through shares from any tax 
consequences arising from the failure of the Company to meet its commitments under the 
flow-through subscription agreements. 
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2. Significant accounting policies (Continued) 
 

(j) Comprehensive (loss) 
 
Comprehensive (loss), composed of net (loss) and other comprehensive (loss) is defined 
as the change in shareholders’ equity from transactions and other events from non-owner 
sources.  Other comprehensive (loss) (“OCL”) includes unrealized gains and losses on 
available-for-sale securities and changes in the fair market value of derivatives 
designated as cash flow hedges, all net of related income taxes.  The components of 
comprehensive (loss) are disclosed in the statement of operations and comprehensive 
(loss).  Cumulative changes in OCL are included in accumulated other comprehensive 
Loss (“AOCL”) which is presented as a new category in shareholders’ equity.  The 
Company does not currently have any OCL items or AOCL.  Therefore, comprehensive 
(loss) is equal to net (loss) for the years ended December 31, 2009 and 2008. 
 

(k) (Loss) per share 
 

Basic (loss) per share is calculated using the weighted average number of shares 
outstanding during the year.  Diluted (loss) per share is calculated using the treasury 
stock method.  In order to determine diluted (loss) per share, the treasury stock method 
assumes that any proceeds from the exercise of dilutive stock options and warrants 
would be used to repurchase common shares at the average market price during the 
period, with the incremental number of shares being included in the denominator of the 
diluted (loss) per share calculation.  The diluted (loss) per share calculation excludes any 
potential conversion of options and warrants that would increase earnings per share or 
decrease loss per share.  Total shares issuable from options and warrants excluded from 
the computation of diluted loss per share because they were anti-dilutive for the year 
ended December 31, 2009 were 2,815,600 (2008 – 4,364,074) and 298,355 (2008 – 
1,548,355), respectively. 
 

(l) Revenue recognition 
 

Revenue from oil and natural gas sales are recognized when persuasive evidence of a 
sale arrangement exists, the risks and rewards of ownership passes to the purchaser 
including delivery of the product, the selling price is fixed or determinable, and 
collectability is reasonably assured. 

 
(m) Project operating expenses 

 
Operating costs include amounts incurred on extraction of production to surface, 
gathering, field processing, treating, field storage, transportation and taxes.   
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2. Significant accounting policies (Continued) 
 

 (n) Financial Instruments 
 

Financial assets and liabilities, including derivative instruments, are initially recognized 
and subsequently measured based on their classification as “held-for-trading”, “available-
for-sale” financial assets, “held-to-maturity”, “loans and receivables”, or “other” financial 
liabilities.  Held-for-trading financial instruments are measured at their fair value with 
changes in fair value recognized in operations for the period.  Available-for-sale financial 
assets are measured at their fair value and changes in fair value are included in other 
comprehensive (loss) until the asset is removed from the balance sheet. Held-to-maturity 
investments, loans and receivables and other financial liabilities are measured at 
amortized cost using the effective interest rate method.  Derivative instruments, including 
embedded derivatives, are measured at their fair value with changes in fair value 
recognized in operations for the period, unless the instrument is a cash flow hedge and 
hedge accounting is applied, in which case changes in fair values are recognized in other 
comprehensive (loss).  
 

  
3. Accounting Changes 
 

(a) Changes in accounting policies 
 

The following accounting policy changes were adopted effective January 1, 2009: 
 
 (i) Fair Value Hierarchy and Liquidity Risk Disclosure 
 

In June 2009, the Canadian Accounting Standards Board issued an amendment to CICA 
Section 3862, “Financial Instruments Disclosures” in an effort to make Section 3862 
consistent with IFRS Section 7 – Disclosures (“IFRS 7”). The purpose was to establish a 
framework for measuring fair value in Canadian GAAP and expand disclosures about fair 
value measurements. To make the disclosures an entity shall classify fair value 
measurements using a fair value hierarchy that reflects the significance of the inputs 
used in making the measurements. The fair value hierarchy shall have the following 
levels: (a) quoted prices (unadjusted) in active markets for identical assets or liabilities 
(Level 1); (b) inputs other than quoted prices included in Level 1 that are observable for 
the asset or liability, either directly (i.e. as prices) or indirectly (i.e. derived from prices) 
(Level 2); and (c) inputs for the asset or liability that are not based on observable market 
data (unobservable inputs) (Level 3). The adoption of the new standard resulted in 
additional disclosures in the notes to the financial statements (Note 4).  
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3. Accounting Changes (Continued) 
 

(a) Changes in accounting policies (Continued) 
 

(ii)  Credit Risk and the Fair Value of Financial Assets and Financial Liabilities 
 
In January 2009, the CICA approved EIC 173 Credit Risk and the Fair Value of Financial 
Assets and Financial Liabilities.  This guidance clarified that an entity's own credit risk 
and the credit risk of the counterparty should be taken into account in determining the fair 
value of financial assets and financial liabilities including derivative instruments.  This 
guidance is applicable to fiscal periods ending on or after January 12, 2009.  The 
Company is continually evaluating its counterparties and their credit risks. The adoption 
of this section did not have an impact on the financial statements. 

   
 

(b) Future Accounting Changes 
 

(i) Business Combinations, Consolidated Financial Statements and Non-controlling 
Interests 

 
In January 2009, the CICA issued Section 1582, Business Combinations, Section 1601, 
Consolidated Financial Statements, and Section 1602, Non-controlling Interests, which 
replace Section 1581, Business Combinations and Section 1600, Consolidated Financial 
Statements. Section 1582 establishes standards for the accounting for business 
combinations that is equivalent to the business combination accounting standard under 
International Financial Reporting Standards (“IFRS”). Section 1582 is applicable for 
business combinations with acquisition dates on or after January 1, 2011.  Early adoption 
of the section is permitted. Section 1601 together with Section 1602 establishes 
standards for the preparation of consolidated financial statements. Section 1601 is 
applicable for the Company’s interim and annual consolidated financial statements for the 
fiscal years beginning on or after January 1, 2011. Early adoption of this section is 
permitted. If the Company chooses to early adopt any one of these sections, the other 
two sections must also be adopted at the same time. The Company does not believe the 
standard will have a material impact on its financial statements. 
 
(ii) International Financial Reporting Standards (“IFRS”) 

 
In January 2006, the Canadian Accounting Standard Board (“AcSB”) announced its 
decision to replace Canadian GAAP with IFRS.  On February 13, 2008 the AcSB 
confirmed January 1, 2011 as the mandatory changeover date to IFRS for all Canadian 
publicly accountable enterprises.  This means that PetroWorth will be required to prepare 
IFRS financial statements for the interim period and fiscal years ending in 2011.  
 
During the year ended December 31, 2009, the Company has completed the preliminary 
impact assessment of IFRS on financial reporting and commenced detailed analysis of 
key issues, impact on systems and processes and identification of accounting 
alternatives.  
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4. Financial instruments 
 

The Company has designated its cash and cash equivalents and investments, as assets held for 
trading.  Cash and cash equivalents are deposited in with a reputable financial institution.  Sales 
tax receivable is designated as loans and receivables and accounts payable and accrued 
liabilities are designated as other liabilities.  These financial instruments are initially measured at 
fair value.  Sales tax receivable and accounts payable and accrued liabilities are subsequently 
measured on the basis of amortized cost using the effective interest rate method.  Assets held for 
trading are revalued on the reporting date based on relevant market information and information 
about the financial instrument.  These valuations are estimates and changes in assumptions 
could significantly affect the estimate. At December 31, 2009, the Company’s financial 
instruments that are carried at fair value, consisting of cash and cash equivalents, have been 
classified as Level 1 within the fair value hierarchy. 
 
The carrying value of cash and cash equivalents, sales tax receivable, and accounts payable and 
accrued liabilities reflected in the balance sheet approximate fair value because of the limited 
term of these instruments.  
 
The Company’s risk exposures and the impact of the Company’s financial instruments are 
summarized below.  There have been no changes in the risks, objectives, policies and 
procedures from the previous period. 

 
a) Credit risk is the risk of an unexpected loss if a customer or third party to a financial 

instrument fails to meet its contractual obligations.  Cash and equivalents are composed 
of financial instruments issued by large Canadian financial institutions with high 
investment-grade ratings and management believes the risk of loss to be remote.  
Further, the Company limits its credit risk to any individual counterparty.  The Company's 
sales tax receivables consist primarily of GST due from the Federal Government of 
Canada.  Management believes that the credit risk concentration with respect to sales tax 
receivable is remote. 

 
b) Market risk is the risk that the fair value of future cash flows of a financial instrument will 

fluctuate because of changes in the market prices and is comprised of three types of risk: 
 

i) Interest rate risk arises because of changes in market interest rates.  The 
Company's cash and equivalents, are subject to minimal risk if changes in value, 
have an original maturity of 90 days or less from the date of purchase and are 
readily convertible into cash.   

 
ii) Capital risk arises because of a change in capital market conditions.  The 

Company manages its capital with the objective of providing adequate capital 
resources for the Company.  The capital structure of the Company consists of 
shareholder’s equity and depends on the ability of the Company to raise ongoing 
capital.   

 
iii) Currency risk arises because of changes in foreign exchange rates.  Nearly all of 

the Company's current activities are priced in Canadian dollars.   
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4. Financial Instruments (Continued) 
 
iv) Other price risk arises because of changes in market prices other than those due 

to interest rates and currency changes.  The Company is exposed to price risk 
with respect to commodity and equity prices.  Equity price risk is the potential 
adverse impact on the Company's ability to raise new capital and generate 
earnings due to movement in the Company's equity price or general movement in  
the level of the stock market.  Commodity price risk is the potential adverse 
impact on earnings and economic value due to commodity price movements and 
volatilities.  The Company monitors commodity prices of oil and natural gas in 
addition to individual equity movements and the stock market to determine 
appropriate courses of action to be taken by the Company. 

 
c) Liquidity risk is the risk that the Company will not be able to meet its obligations 

associated with financial liabilities as they fall due.  The Company's investment policy is 
to invest its excess cash in high-grade investment securities with varying terms to 
maturity, selected with regard to the expected timing of expenditures for continuing 
operation.  Accounts payable and accrued liabilities are all current.  As at December 31, 
2009, the Company had cash and cash equivalents balance of $937,049 (2008 - 
$3,907,468) to settle currently liabilities of $484,980 (2008 - $766,916).  In addition the 
Company has various property commitments as reflected in Notes 8 and 11. 

 
d) Sensitivity analysis   

 
i) The Company’s cash is measured at fair value.  Financial instruments included in 

sales tax receivable are classified as loans and receivables, which are measured 
at amortized cost.  Accounts payable and accrued liabilities are classified as 
other financial liabilities, which are measured at amortized cost.  As at December 
31, 2009, the carrying and fair value amounts of the Company’s financial 
instruments are the same.  Based on management’s knowledge and experience 
of the financial markets, the Company believes that the movements in interest 
rates that are reasonably possible over the next twelve month period will not 
have a significant impact on the Company.   
 

ii) The Company had limited natural gas production in Alberta which was subject to 
an increase or decrease in the market price of natural gas.  The Company had 
not hedged its future natural gas sales.  On December 1, 2009, the Company 
divested its natural gas production interest in Alberta to focus on natural gas 
exploration in Atlantic Canada.  Fluctuation in natural gas prices do not have a 
significant impact on the Company’s financial results as the company is no longer 
in the operating stage.   

 
 

5. Segmented information 
 
The Company operates in one industry segment and is engaged in the exploration of natural gas 
properties. 
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6. Future income taxes 
 

(a)  Provision for income taxes: 
 
Major items causing the Company's income tax rate to differ from the Canadian statutory rates 
of approximately 32.5% (2008 – 33.5%) are as follows:  

 
 

 2009 2008 
 $ $ 

(Loss) before income taxes  (5,403,022)  (3,194,732) 
 
Expected income tax (recovery)  (1,756,000)  (1,070,000) 
Adjustments to benefit resulting from: 
Stock-based compensation  -  185,000 
Change in tax rates  345,356  125,000 
Other  (68,356)  (206,935) 
  (1,479,000)  (966,935) 
Change in valuation allowance   397,000  28,000 
Future income tax (recovery)  (1,082,000)  (938,935) 

 
 
(b) The future income tax assets (liabilities) consist of the following temporary differences: 
 
 2009 2008 
 $ $ 

Equipment  25,000  20,000 
Natural gas properties  (1,567,000)  (2,108,000) 
Share issue costs  116,000  164,000 
Non-capital losses  1,851,000  1,952,000 
Valuation allowance  (425,000)  (28,000) 
Total future income tax (liability)  -  - 
 

 
(c) The Company has approximately $19,730,000 of Canadian exploration and development 

expenditures which, under certain circumstances, may be utilized to reduce taxable income of 
future years.   

 
 As at December 31, 2009, the Company has approximately $6,733,000 of non-capital losses 

in Canada, which can be used to reduce taxable income of future years and expire as follows:   
 

 $ 
2013   246,000 
2014 810,000 
2025 1,643,000 
2026 1,024,000 
2027 3,010,000 
 6,733,000 
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7. Equipment 
 

  Cost
Accumulated  
Depreciation Net Book Value

Office furniture 41,657 26,034 15,623
Computer hardware 83,926 61,741 22,185
Leasehold improvements 39,960 13,986 25,974
Balance, December 31, 2009 165,543 101,761 63,782

  Cost
Accumulated  
Depreciation Net Book Value

Office furniture 41,657 22,543 19,114
Computer hardware 82,363 54,031 28,332
Leasehold improvements 39,960 5,994 33,966
Balance, December 31, 2008 163,980 82,568 81,412

 
 
 
8. Natural gas exploration 
 

The Company was founded to operate as a natural gas exploration, development and production 
company.   
 
Alberta 
 
On December 1, 2009, the Company entered into a Quitclaim, Assignment and Mutual Release 
Agreement with Forent Energy Ltd. (“Forent”), the operator of the seven farm-in wells in Alberta 
under the Farmout Agreements, whereby PetroWorth would assign its entire interest pursuant to 
the Farmout Agreements to Forent.  The parties agreed to release each other of any obligations 
that each may have against the other in connection with those interests and under the Farmout 
Agreements. 
 
Prince Edward Island (“PEI”) 
 
The Company has a 100% interest in certain claims in PEI.  The total annual rent for these 
properties is $44,381. 
 
The permits were obtained under the laws of the Province of PEI.  The Company has the 
exclusive right to explore the properties for up to six years so long as the Company has complied 
with the provisions of the permits and paid the annual rental. 
 
Corridor Resources Inc. (“Corridor”) has earned a 50% interest in one of the Company’s permits, 
while Petroworth has earned 10% interest in one of Corridor’s permits. 
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8. Natural gas exploration (Continued) 
 
Nova Scotia 
 
On July 15, 2004, the Company secured a 100% interest in the Exploration Agreement No. 
04-07-15-03 in Victoria counties of Nova Scotia for a term of three years with an annual rental of 
$18,635.  In August 2007, the Nova Scotia Department of Energy extended the Exploration 
Agreement for a further three years, contingent upon the Company meeting its annual work 
commitment.  The Company has put up a deposit of $300,000.  The Company has the right to 
explore the properties until July 15, 2010 so long as the Company has complied with the 
provisions of the permits, paid the annual rental of $18,635 and expends a total of $4,500,000 of 
which $1,500,000 must be spent prior to July 15, 2009 (spent).  During the year ended December 
31, 2009, PetroWorth spent $1,358,425 on a seismic program on the Lake Ainslie Block property 
in Cape Breton, Nova Scotia.  Total natural gas exploration expenditure to December 31, 2009 on 
the property was $1,792,964.   
 
New Brunswick 
 
The Company has a 100% interest in certain claims in New Brunswick.  The total annual rent for 
these properties is $72,007 and the total work commitments are $1,152,756.  
 
The permits were obtained under the laws of the Province of New Brunswick.  The Company has 
the exclusive right to explore the properties for up to three years so long as the Company has 
complied with the provisions of the permits, paid the annual rental and fulfilled the work 
commitment.   
 
During the year ended December 31, 2009, the total capitalized natural gas exploration and 
development expenditures were $2,485,617 (2008 - $11,003,867), which can be summarized as 
follows:  

   2009  2008
Alberta           84,570         168,502 
New Brunswick          719,216      8,553,928 
Nova Scotia       1,358,425         232,277 
Prince Edward Island          323,406      2,013,040 
General Exploration                  -            36,120 
Total         2,485,617      11,003,867 

 
 
This amount includes insurance costs of $15,898 (2008 - $15,164), geological and environmental 
consulting cost of $386,597 (2008 - $438,241) and travel cost of $7,523 (2008 - $25,109).  
General and administrative costs of $4,339 (2008 - $Nil) are capitalized. 
 

 Beginning Addition Depletion Cumulative 
 Balance  & Impairment Total 
 

December 31, 2008 $ 12,861,648 $ 11,003,867 $        528,041 $ 23,337,474 
 
December 31, 2009  $ 23,337,474 $ 2,485,617 $ 4,332,882 $ 21,490,209 
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9. Share capital 
 

(a)  Common Shares 
 
 Authorized Number of shares Amount 

 Unlimited Common shares 
 
 Balance, December 31, 2007  38,163,806 $ 26,725,207 
  
 Flow-through shares issued for cash (iv) (v)  2,460,223  3,936,357 
 Common shares issued for cash (iv) (v)  4,193,152  6,080,070 
 Share issue costs (net of income tax recovery of $174,064)  -  (430,231) 
 Valuation of warrants issued for services (Note 9(b))  -  (251,673) 
 Exercise of options (Note 9(c))  50,000  60,500 
 Shares issued for services (ii)  100,000  105,000 
 Tax effect of issuing flow-through common shares  -  (893,000) 
 Shares repurchased and cancelled (iii)  (1,300,000)  (919,894) 
 Less: share held for cancellation (iii)  (305,000)  (215,821) 
  
 Balance, December 31, 2008  43,362,181 $   34,196,515 
 Shares issued for service (i)  100,000  20,000 
 Tax effect of issuing flow-through common shares  -  (1,082,000)  
 Balance, December 31, 2009  43,462,181 $ 33,134,515 
 

 
(i) On July 10, 2009, the Company issued 100,000 common shares to a consultant for 

services provided valued at $20,000. 
 

(ii) On February 5, 2008, the Company issued 100,000 common shares to a consultant for 
services provided valued at $105,000.  

 
(iii) On February 7, 2008, the Company announced a normal course issuer bid to purchase 

up to 1,980,190 or 5% of its common shares outstanding.  As at December 31, 2008, 
the Company repurchased and subsequently cancelled 1,605,000 shares.  Total 
consideration paid for these shares was $1,500,217.  This resulted in a decrease to 
common shares of $1,135,715 and a decrease in contributed surplus of $364,503.  

 
(iv) On June 20, 2008, the Company completed a non-brokered private placement of 

779,000 common shares and 1,374,375 flow-through common shares at $1.45 per 
share and $1.60 per share, respectively, to raise a total of $3,328,550. 

 
(v) On June 20, 2008, the Company completed a brokered private placement of 3,414,152 

common shares and 1,085,848 flow-through common shares at $1.45 per share and 
$1.60 per share, respectively, to raise a total of $6,687,877.  
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9. Share capital (Continued) 
 

(b) Warrants 
 
A summary of the changes in the Company's share purchase warrants during the years 
ended December 31, 2009 and 2008 are as follows: 
  Weighted 
  Average 
 Number of  Exercise 
 warrants Price 
 
Balance, December 31, 2007   1,250,000 $ 1.30 
Issued  298,355  1.45 
 
Balance, December 31, 2008  1,548,355  $  1.33 
Expired  (1,250,000) $ 1.30 
 
Balance, December 31, 2009  298,355  $  1.45 

 
On June 20, 2008, the Company issued 298,355 common share purchase warrants to registered 
brokers for services provided in connection to the private placement on June 20, 2008 
exercisable until June 20, 2010 at $1.45 per share.  The estimated fair value was $251,673 using 
the Black-Scholes option pricing model based on the following weighted average assumptions: 

 
Expected dividend yield  0% 
Expected annual volatility 111% 
Risk-free interest rate  3.30% 
Expected average life  2 years 

 
As at December 31, 2009, the following common share purchase warrants were outstanding: 

 
Expiry date Exercise Price Warrants 

June 20, 2010  1.45  298,355 

   
i. On April 16, 2009, 1,000,000 common share purchase warrants exercisable at $1.00 per 

share expired unexercised.   
 

ii. On November 7, 2009, 250,000 common share purchase warrants exercisable at $2.50 
per share expired unexercised. 

 
No common share purchase warrants were issued during the year ended December 31, 2009.   
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9. Share capital (Continued) 
 
 (c) Stock options 

 
The Company has established a stock option plan pursuant to which options to purchase 
common shares may be granted to certain officers, directors and employees of the Company 
as well as persons providing ongoing services to the Company.  The maximum number of 
common shares reserved for issuance upon the exercise of options is not to exceed 10% 
percent of the total number of common shares outstanding immediately prior to such an 
issuance.  Under the plan, the Board of Directors has the choice of either vesting or allowing 
options issued to be exercisable upon issuance.  Options are normally issued for a five-year 
term. 
 
During the year ended December 31, 2009, no stock options (2008 – 600,000) were granted 
to directors, officers, employees and consultants of the Company.  All options granted in 
2008 vested immediately.  Stock-based compensation expense of $nil (2008 - $465,799) 
was related to directors, officers and employee compensation while $nil (2008 – $178,148) 
was related to compensation for consultants.  
 
A summary of the changes in stock options during the years ended December 31, 2009 and 
2008 are as follows: 
  Weighted 
  Average 
 Number of  Exercise 
 options Price 
 
Balance, December 31, 2007  3,814,074 $ 1.25 
Granted   600,000  1.55 
Exercised  (50,000)  (0.62) 
 
Balance, December 31, 2008  4,364,074 $ 1.29 
 
Expired  (1,548,474)  (1.00) 
Forfeited  -               - 
 
Balance, December 31, 2009         2,815,600           1.48 
 
The grant date fair value of the stock options granted was estimated using the Black-Scholes 
option pricing model based on the following assumptions: 
 

  2008 
Expected dividend yield   0% 
Expected annual volatility  120% - 121% 
Risk-free interest rate   3.06% - 3.18% 
Expected average life   5 years 
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9. Share capital (Continued) 
 

At December 31, 2009, the following employee stock options were outstanding: 
 
 Options    Grant date 
 Exercisable &  Exercise Fair Value of 
Expiry date  Outstanding  Price per share($)   Options ($) 
 
Feb 28, 2010 510,000 0.62 300,893 
Apr 16, 2010 150,000 1.10 142,000 
Apr 17, 2010 25,000 1.15 25,000 
Apr 23, 2010 525,000 1.33 567,000 
Apr 30, 2010 417,100 1.50 533,888 
Aug 21, 2010 423,500 2.24 741,125 
Oct 31, 2010 180,000 2.65 354,600 
Jun 3, 2013 355,000 1.55 347,900 
Aug 19, 2013 230,000 1.55 193,200 
 
 2,815,600  3,205,606 
   

The weighted average grant date fair value of options granted during the year ended 
December 31, 2009 is $nil (2008 - $1.07) per option. 
 
 

 (d) Contributed surplus 
 
Balance, December 31, 2007 $  5,164,120 
 
Estimated fair value of stock based compensation 

Directors, officers and employees  465,799 
Consultants  178,148 

Fair value of broker warrants  251,673 
Shares repurchased for cancellation (Note 9(a)(iii)  (364,503) 
Exercise of options  (29,500) 
 
Balance, December 31, 2009 and 2008 $ 5,665,737 
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10. Capital Management 
 

The Company’s objectives when managing capital are: (i) to safeguard the Company’s ability to 
continue as a going concern in order to pursue the development of its natural gas properties and 
provide returns for shareholders, and (ii) to maintain a flexible capital structure which optimizes 
the cost of capital at an acceptable risk.  
 
The Company includes the components of shareholder’s equity and, cash and cash equivalents 
in the management of capital.  The Company manages the capital structure and makes 
adjustments to it in light of changes in economic conditions and the risk characteristics of the 
underlying assets.  To maintain or adjust the capital structure, the Company may attempt to issue 
new shares, issue new debt, acquire or dispose of assets or adjust the amount of cash and cash 
equivalents. 
 
To facilitate the management of its capital requirements, the Company prepares forecasts or 
expenditure budgets for its activities that are used to monitor performance.  Variances to the plan 
will result in adjustments to capital deployment subject to various factors and industry conditions.  
The Company’s activities and the associated forecasts or budgets are approved by the Board of 
Directors. 
 
The Company is not subject to any externally imposed capital requirements limiting or restricting 
the use of its capital.  In order to maximize ongoing development efforts, the Company does not 
pay out dividends at this time.  The Company’s investment policy is to invest its cash in highly 
liquid short-term interest-bearing investments with maturities of less than a year from the original 
date of acquisition, selected with regards to the expected timing of expenditure from operations.  
There were no changes in the Company’s approach to capital management during the year 
ended December 31, 2009 and 2008. 
 
 

11. Commitments and contingencies 
 
Included in prepaid expenses and sundry assets are deposits of $588,189 (2008 -$588,189) with 
the Governments of New Brunswick and Nova Scotia. The Company has also issued promissory 
notes in the amounts of $288,750 (2008 - $288,750) to the Government of Prince Edward Island 
and $1,241,254 (2008 - $1,376,817) to the Government of New Brunswick as a commitment to 
explore for natural gas under the terms of the agreements for the respective properties.  The 
deposits are refundable upon the company meeting its exploration commitments outlined in Note 
8.  The promissory notes are contingently payable if the Company does not meet its exploration 
commitments as outlined in Note 8.  As the likelihood of this occurring is not determinable, the 
contingent payments have not been reflected in these financial statements.  
 
The Company is party to certain management contracts.  These contracts contain clauses 
requiring that additional payments of up to $740,000 be made upon the occurrence of certain 
events. As the likelihood of these events taking place is not determinable, the contingent 
payments have not been reflected in these financial statements.  Minimum payments required 
under these contracts approximate $370,000 all due within one year 
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11. Commitments and contingencies (Continued) 
 
The Company has lease commitments for base rental payments for offices through 2013.  The 
approximate minimum lease commitments for the remaining term of the loan are as follows:  
 
 

Year $
2010 47,000
2011 52,000
2012 52,000
2013 9,000
Total 160,000

 
 
Environmental Contingencies 
 
The Company’s natural gas exploration activities are subject to various federal and provincial 
laws and regulations governing the protection of the environment.  These laws and regulations 
are continually changing and generally becoming more restrictive.  The Company conducts its 
operations so as to protect public health and the environment and believes its operations are 
materially in compliance with all applicable laws and regulations. The Company has made, and 
expects to make in the future, expenditures to comply with such laws and regulations. 

 
 

12. Subsequent Events 
 

On February 28, 2010, 510,000 options exercisable at an exercise price of $0.62 per share 
expired unexercised. 
 
On April 1, 2010, the government of New Brunswick returned a deposit of $288,189 (see Note 11) 
in exchange for a promissory note of equal value.  

 
On April 16, 2010, 150,000 options exercisable at an exercise price of $1.10 per share expired 
unexercised. 
 
On April 17, 2010, 25,000 options exercisable at an exercise price of $1.15 per share expired 
unexercised.  
 
On April 23, 2010, 525,000 options exercisable at an exercise price of $1.33 per share expired 
unexercised.  
 
 

 
 



 
 

 

 

STATEMENT OF RESERVES DATA AND OTHER OIL AND GAS INFORMATION 

 

PART 1  DATE OF STATEMENT 

 

This statement of reserves data and other information (the “Statement”) is dated April 28, 2011.    

The Effective Date of this Statement is December 31, 2010.   

 

PART 2 DISCLOSURE OF RESERVES DATA 

PetroWorth is engaged in exploration of oil and natural gas in the Province of New Brunswick, Nova Scotia and 
Prince Edward Island.  In 2010, the Corporation completed a 63-kilometre 2-D seismic program on the Sackville 
Basin property in New Brunswick.   The Corporation also completed a 14-kilometre seismic on its PEI property 
during 2010.  As of December 31, 2010, the Corporation had no oil or gas reserves on any of its properties and 
hence no related future net revenue. 

 

PART 3 PRICING ASSUMPTIONS 

As the Corporation had no reserves, no evaluation was carried out by any independent evaluating engineer for 
2010. 

 

PART 4 RECONCILIATIONS OF CHANGES IN RESERVES AND FUTURE NET REVENUE 

Petroworth had no proved or probable reserves as at December 31, 2009 & 2010 and therefore there were no 
changes during the year.  As the company has no production or revenue generated from the properties, there is 
no estimation of future revenue streams.   

 

 

 

 



PART 5 ADDITIONAL INFORMATION RELATING TO RESERVES DATA 

As of December 1, 2009, the Corporation has disposed of all of its wells that have reserves. 

Significant Factors or Uncertainties 

The process of evaluating reserves is inherently complex.  It requires significant judgements and decisions based 
on available geological, geophysical, engineering and economic data.  As circumstances change and additional 
data becomes available, reserve estimates also change.  Estimates are reviewed and revised, either upward or 
downward, as warranted by the new information.  Revisions are often required due to changes in well 
performance, prices, economic conditions and governmental restrictions.  Revisions to reserve estimates can 
arise from changes in year-end prices, reservoir performance and geologic conditions or production.  These 
revisions can be either positive or negative.  See "Risk Factors". 

Future Development Costs 

There are no planned future development costs as the Company has disposed of all of is interests in the 
producing wells.   

 

PART 6 OTHER OIL AND GAS INFORMATION 

Oil an Gas Properties and Wells 

PetroWorth has oil and gas properties in the Provinces of New Brunswick, Prince Edward Island, Nova Scotia, 
and Alberta.  As of December 31, 2010, the Corporation had no oil or gas reserves or production on any of its 
properties.   All the Corporation’s properties are onshore and in Canada, specifically in New Brunswick, Nova 
Scotia and Prince Edward Island.  

The following table sets forth the number and status of wells as at December 31, 2010 in which the Corporation 
has a working interest.  The stated interests are subject to land-owners and other royalties, where applicable, in 
addition to the customary Crown royalties and mineral taxes. 

  Natural Gas Wells
  Producing  Non-Producing 
  Gross(1)  Net(2)  Gross(1)  Net(2) 
New Brunswick  0  0  4  4 
Prince Edward Island  0  0  1  0.1 
Nova Scotia  0  0  0  0 
         
Total   0  0  5  4.1 
         

Notes: 

(1) "Gross" refers to all oil and gas wells in which Petroworth has a working interest. 

(2) "Net" refers to the aggregate of the percentage working interests of Petroworth in the gross wells, before the deduction of 
any royalty interests. 

Properties with no Attributed Reserves: 

Information relating to the Corporation’s principal properties with no attributed reserves is set out below. 

New Brunswick 

As of December 31, 2010, Petroworth had the following onshore land holdings in New Brunswick: 
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1. 100% interest in the New Brunswick Lease No. ONG 07-06 consisting of approximately 33,754 acres in 
southern New Brunswick (the “Rosevale” property); 

2. 100% interest in two additional and adjacent leases in southern New Brunswick (the “Stoney Creek” 
property): 

a. ONG 09-11 consisting of approximately 1,773 acres; and 

b. ONG 09-12 consisting of approximately 5,319 acres. 

3. 100% interest in Westmorland County of New Brunswick Licence No. 07-01 consisting of 88,737 acres 
located immediately east of the Stoney Creek oil and gas field expired in August 2010.  As at the date of 
this 51-101, the Corporation has applied to convert the licence into a lease.  

 

Prince Edward Island 

As of December 31, 2010, Petroworth had the following onshore land holdings in Price Edward Island (PEI): 

1. 100% interest in two contiguous permits in north-eastern PEI: 

a. Permit #03-01 consisting of approximately 88,090 acres; and 

b. Permit #03-02 consisting of approximately 177,985 acres.   

2. 100% interest in Permit #04-05 of approximately 133,286 acres in central PEI which expired in 2010 
and applications have been made for renewal as the date of this MD&A. 

3. 100% interest in three additional properties in King’s County, PEI which expired in 2010 and 
applications have been made for renewal as the date of this MD&A: 

a. Permit #04-06 consisting of approximately 21,360 acres; 

b. Permit #04-07 consisting of approximately 21,420 acres;  

c. Permit #04-08 consisting of approximately 3,418 acres; and 

4. 10% working interest in Green Gables license 04-03, PEI. 

Nova Scotia 

As of December 31, 2010, Petroworth holds Exploration Agreements in Nova Scotia being 04-07-15-01 
consisting of 383,727 acres (the “Ainslie” property).  Under the Exploration Agreement, Petroworth has 
completed a 66 kilometre seismic program to satisfy exploratory work commitment of $1,500,000 in 2009 and 
will need to complete a further $1,500,000 for each of the following two years totalling $3,000,000.  Petroworth 
has put up a deposit of $200,000 for this agreement.    

Forward Contracts 

As at December 31, 2010, the Corporation did not, and currently does not, have any future material 
commitments to buy, sell, exchange or transport oil or natural gas. 
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Additional Information Concerning Abandonment and Reclamation Costs 

No abandonment or reclamation costs were allocated to any properties.  The Corporation incurred $86,459 in 
cleanup costs in 2010 for well site cleanup expenses in New Brunswick. 

Tax Horizon 

Based on Petroworth’s existing tax pools, estimated capital program for 2010 and current production levels, no 
income taxes are expected to be payable for the foreseeable future. 

Capital Expenditures 

The following table summarizes capital expenditures incurred by 
Petroworth and property acquisitions added to oil and natural gas 
properties and equipment with respect to Petroworth’s reserves for the 
period ended Expenditures 

 Year Ended 
December 31, 2010 

($000s) 

Property acquisition costs-Unproved properties  - 
Property acquisition costs-Proved properties  - 
Exploration costs  2,401 
Development costs  85 
Total Expenditures  2,486 

 

Exploration and Development Activities 

During the year ending December 31, 2010, the Corporation did not carry out any drilling activities on any of its 
properties.  The Corporation completed a 63 kilometre seismic program on its Sackville Basin property in New 
Brunswick. 

For details on the important current and planned exploration and development activities during 2010, see 
"Principal Properties". 

Production History 

Petroworth disposed of all of its producing wells in Alberta on December 1, 2009. During the year ended 
December 31, 2010, the company had no production.  

 

Production Estimates 

Petroworth has no production in 2010 as it has disposed of all of its producing wells in Alberta on December 1, 
2009.    
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